
LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
 PROPOSED AGENDA

WORK SESSION, THURSDAY, JUNE 16, 2022, 8:30 a.m.
REGULAR SESSION, THURSDAY, JUNE 16, 2022, 5:30 p.m.

327 N. Ashley Street - 2nd Floor

1. Call To Order
  

2. Invocation
  

3. Pledge Of Allegiance To The Flag
  

4. Proclamation Presentation to Ms. Debra Tann - Reminiscent (Regular Session)
  

5. Minutes For Approval
  

 a. Work Session - May 23, 2022, Budget Work Session - May 23, 2022, & Regular Session - May 
24, 2022

 Recommended Action: Approve
 Documents:
   

6. Appointment
  

 a. Southwest Georgia Region 8 Emergency Medical Services Council
 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

7. Public Hearing
  

 a. REZ-2022-09 Flannigan, James Rd. R-1 to C-G, Water/Sewer ~7.8 acres
 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

 b. REZ-2022-10 The Campus Transitional Care Facility, 2193 Howell Rd, E-A to P-D, Well & Septic 
~23 acres

 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

 c. REZ-2022-11 Makesh, LLC, 900 Lakes Blvd, C-G, County Utilities, 1.07 acres
 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

 d. REZ-2022-12 Pittman, Phelps, Leonard, Moss Oak Trail, R-10 to C-G, County Utilities, ~1.63 
acres

 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

8. For Consideration
  



 a. Lowndes County Accountability Court Grant Approval and Cash Match
 Recommended Action: Approve
 Documents:
   

 b. Lowndes County Juvenile Accountability Court (LCJAC) FY23 Budget & Grant Award
 Recommended Action: Approve
 Documents:
   

 c. Annual Contract Renewal with the State of Georgia Department of Corrections
 Recommended Action: Board's Pleasure
 Documents:
   

 d. American Rescue Plan Funding for Utilities Repairs with Carter & Sloope Engineering
 Recommended Action: Approve
 Documents:
   

9. Reports - County Manager
  

10. Citizens Wishing To Be Heard - Please State Your Name and Address
  

11. Adjournment
  



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: Southwest Georgia Region 8 Emergency Medical Services 
Council

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: 
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: Appointing a Lowndes County Member
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: The Region 8 EMS Council is asking for an appointment for the Regional 
Emergency Medical Services Advisory Council to represent Lowndes County. This Council is the designated 
Local Coordinating Entity (LCE) to recommend to the Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH) and the 
manner in which the EMSC Program functions within the region. Mr. David Bauch was the representative for 
Lowndes County; however, he has retired and a new representative needs to be appointed to fill his position. 
Members of the Regional EMS Council should possess interest and/or expertise in the areas of Emergency 
Medical Services, health care, or public safety. Ms. Emily K. Brown has been submitted for nomination.
 

OPTIONS: 1. Appoint a Lowndes County member.
2. Board's Pleasure 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure
 

DEPARTMENT: County Manager                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: Paige Dukes
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



                May 2, 2022

Lowndes County Board of Commissioners
327 N. Ashley Street
Valdosta, Ga 31601

Dear Chairman/ County Administrator

On behalf of the Region 8 EMS Council, I am asking for an appointment from you for 
the Regional Emergency Medical Services Advisory Council to represent your county. 
This Council is the designated Local Coordinating Entity (LCE) to recommend to the 
Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH) and the manner in which the EMSC 
Program functions within the region. 

Lowndes County has one (1) Representative on this Council. Your current 
Representative is David Bauch (retired), term 2019-2022.  

Council bylaws require that at least two-thirds of the voting membership be comprised 
of individuals selected by the County Commissions; therefore, I am soliciting from you 
the name or reappointment of one (1) individual whom you wish to represent your 
county on this council for the 2022-2025 term. Council By-laws require members to 
attend at least fifty percent (50%) of the scheduled council meetings. The Council 
meets once (1) per quarter. 
 

Members of the Regional EMS Council should possess interest and/or expertise in 
the areas of Emergency Medical Services, health care, or public safety.  The 
following is a list of categories, which you may wish to consider when 
recommending your representative:

▪Public EMS Provider ▪Consumer  
▪Private EMS Provider ▪Emergency Physician

                                           ▪EMT/Paramedic (non-supervisory) ▪General Surgeon                                                        
▪Authority hospital representative ▪Communications agency representative
▪Non-authority hospital representative ▪Law enforcement representative
▪City government representative ▪Emergency department nurse and/or trauma nurse
▪County government representative ▪Pediatrician

Please forward the recommendation of your Commission to Daniel Warren, DPH 
Region 8 EMS Director, along with a brief synopsis of the individual's qualifications 
along with his/her mailing address and telephone number on the attached form. You 
may email this information.

Please complete the attached form and return before June 15, 2022.  Your 
participation in this effort is important to the provision of quality Emergency Medical 
Services to the citizens in your community, region, and state.  I appreciate your 
cooperation and welcome you to contact me if you have any questions.  Thank you.

Sincerely,

Daniel Warren
                  
Regional EMS Director – Region 8

Southwest Georgia Region 8 Emergency Medical Services 
Council

Tifton, Ga 31793
678-367-5015 (office)  

Tim Coram
Chairman

Robby Royal
Vice-Chair

Sanford Hawkins M.D.
Regional Medical 

Director

Daniel Warren
Regional EMS Director

BAKER
BEN HILL
BERRIEN
BROOKS

CALHOUN
COLQUITT

COOK
CRISP

DECATUR
DOOLY

DOUGHERTY
EARLY

ECHOLS
GRADY
IRWIN

LANIER
LEE

LOWNDES
MILLER

MITCHELL
SEMINOLE

SUMTER
TERRELL
THOMAS

TIFT
TURNER
WORTH



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Lowndes County Board of Commissioners
327 N. Ashley Street
Valdosta, Ga 31601

FROM: Daniel Warren
Region 8 EMS Director
Tifton, Ga 31793
Kenneth.Warren1@dph.ga.gov
(678) 367-5015

RE: Region 8 EMS Council Nomination

DATE: May 25, 2022

Please nominate a representative for your county, please complete the 
following and return via email:

The following person will serve on the Region 8 EMS Advisory Council for the term 2022-2025 or vacant 
unexpired term.  If desired reappointment can be made for 2022-2025 Term.

Name:  Emily K. Brown 

   
South Georgia Medical Center ____Mailing Address:

2501 North Patterson Street Valdosta, Georgia  31602

Work Phone: 229-333-4595

Mobile Phone:

Emily.Brown@sgmc.orgEmail:

Brief synopsis of qualifications: MBA, BSN, RN, CEN
SGMC Trauma Program Manager 
Tenured Emergency Medicine RN 

mailto:Kenneth.Warren1@dph.ga.gov


Chairman/County Administrator Signature:



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: REZ-2022-09 Flannigan, James Rd. R-1 to C-G, Water/Sewer ~7.8 
acres

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: 
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: REZ-2022-09 Flannigan, James Rd. R-1 to C-G, Water/Sewer ~7.8 acres
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: This request represents a change in zoning on the subject property from Low 
Density Residential (R-1) zoning to General Commercial (C-G) zoning. The general motivation is a speculative 
commercial use of the subject property, such as medical and retail amenities, according to the letter of 
intent.  As the lot is a corner lot, access to and from the subject property is currently off James Road, a County 
maintained major collector on the west side of the property, and Smith Street to the north, a County 
maintained local road. Concerning the Comprehensive Plan Future Development Map the subject property is 
within the Urban Service Area and depicted as a Neighborhood Activity Center Character Area.  Per 
Comprehensive Plan guidance C-G zoning is listed as a permitted zoning within a Neighborhood Activity 
Center Character Area.  
 
Aspects of this case worthy of consideration include the following: 1. The subject property is surrounded by R-
1 zoning. The closest commercial zoning is located approximately 450 feet to the east and 850 feet to the 
south; 2. James Road is a major collector road and designed to support commercial activity; 3. The Urban 
Service Area designation of the property indicates infrastructure is provided, and urban density development 
is supported on the lot.  
 
The TRC reviewed this application and had no objectionable comments, noting that if approved, the minimum 
buffer required between Commercial and Residential zoning districts is at least 15’ wide and includes a 6’ tall 
opaque privacy fence, 3 shade trees per 100 linear feet, and 19 shrubs per 100 linear feet, and continued 
access from Smith Street will be determined by the County Engineer during the plan review process when an actual 
use of the property is determined. The Planning Commission heard the request at their May meeting, and 
discussed the concerns of certain commercial uses versus higher density residential uses, and ultimately 
recommended Denial (10-0).
 

OPTIONS: 1) Approve
2) Approve with Conditions
3) Table
4) Deny

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure



 

DEPARTMENT: Planning/Zoning                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: JD Dillard
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



June 6, 2022

From: Charlie, Katherine & Felix Flannigan
2402 Edgar Circle
Valdosta GA

To: Department of Planning & Zoning
Attention Mr. JD Dillard

Subject: Table Rezone Request

Dear Mr. Dillard,

In light of the ongoing controversy surrounding the request for rezone, it is our collective consensus that
a request to postpone the vote by the Lowndes County Commission is indeed warranted; in order to

continue dialogue with residents who apparently are under the impression that we are advocating for a
future nightclub and or drive through alcohol sales at this location. I have met with the apparent
leadership of the group and am presently unsure of what the groups other undisclosed overall
opposition to General Commercial at the site.
Nevertheless,sincere dialogue needs to continue in order to see if we can move forward with
conditions, therefore I am formally requesting that the decision be set aside for a period of 60 days from
the scheduled vote by the commission.

Felix Flannigan









Flannigan
Rezoning Request 

P-D

R-21

C-G

R-1

C-C

E-A

R-AR-10

C-H

TALL P INEDR

JA ME S R O AD

EX T

US HWY 84 W

PINE NEEDLE DR N

PA T PL

JA
ME

S R
D

HOPEDR

SMITH ST

JE
FF

S 
PL

LYNNHAVEN RD

BEVERLY DR

JA
SO

N 
CI

R

HO
LL

AN
D 

CI
R

TR
EE

VI
EW

 D
R

JE
R E

MI
A H

CI
R

JO
E 

BE
LL

 R
D

MACK HILL DR

Legend
Roads
Railroads
Parcels
Urban Service Area

Zoning Condit ions
WET
YES
City  Limits
Valdos ta Airport

Zoning Districts
C-C
C-G
C-H
CON
E-A
I-S
M-1
M-2
M-3
MAZ - 1
MAZ - 2
MAZ - 3
O-I
P-D
PD-R
R-1
R-10
R-21
R-A
GLPC Zoning

Zoning Location Map

0 850
Feet

REZ-2022-09

.

CURRENT ZONING: R-1
PROPOSED ZONING: C-G



BEVERLYDR

BOONE DAIRY RD

TAL L
PINE DR

W HILL AVE

PINE NEEDLEDRN

LOCHWOOD DR

HOP
E DR

W
IN NW

O O D
CI R

SMITH ST DE
AN

 S
T

JO
AN

NA
 D

R

B RIARW
OO D

R D

COREY DR

LYNNHAVEN RD

I 75 NB
I 75 SB

RI
VE

RS
ID

E 
RD

TR
EE

VI
EW

 D
R

NORMAN DR

JA
ME

S 
RD

JO
E 

BE
LL

 R
D

BE
EJ

AY
 S

T

MA
TT

HE
W

 D
R

THOM AS
ST

SC OT T
S T

PATRICK PL

MEETIN G PL

MACK HILLDR

US HW Y 84 W

JAMES ROAD EXTOAKW OOD DR

I 75
R AM P

WESTSIDE R D

BEVERLYDR

BOONE DAIRY RD

TAL L
PINE DR

W HILL AVE

PINE NEEDLEDRN

LOCHWOOD DR

HOP
E DR

W
IN NW

O O D
CI R

SMITH ST DE
AN

 S
T

JO
AN

NA
 D

R

B RIARW
OO D

R D

COREY DR

LYNNHAVEN RD

I 75 NB
I 75 SB

RI
VE

RS
ID

E 
RD

TR
EE

VI
EW

 D
R

NORMAN DR

JA
ME

S 
RD

JO
E 

BE
LL

 R
D

BE
EJ

AY
 S

T

MA
TT

HE
W

 D
R

THOM AS
ST

SC OT T
S T

PATRICK PL

MEETIN G PL

MACK HILLDR

US HW Y 84 W

JAMES ROAD EXTOAKW OOD DR

I 75
R AM P

WESTSIDE R D

REZ-2022-09
Flannigan

Rezoning Request

Future Development Map

µ
Roads
Functional Classification

1, INTERSTATE
3, OTHER PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
4, M INOR A RTERIA L
5, M AJOR COLL ECTOR
6, M INOR COLL ECTOR
7, L OCAL

Railroads

Open W ater

Urban Serv ice Area

City  Limits
Parcels

0 700 1,400350
Feet Agr icu lture / Forestry

Community A ctivi ty Center
Downtown
Established Residentia l
Industrial  Ac tivity Center
Industrial  Area
Institu tional A ctivi ty Center
Linear Greenspac e/Trai ls
Mil l Town
Moody A ctivi ty  Zone

Neighbor hood A ctivi ty  Center
Par k/Recreation/Conservation
Public / Institu tional
Regional  A ctivi ty  Center
Remerton Neighbor hood Vil lage
Rural  A ctivi ty  Center
Rural  Residentia l
Suburban Area
Trans itional Neighborhood
Trans portation/Communication/Uti li ties



EE

SMITH ST

US HWY 84 W
DE

AN
 S

T

TALL PINE DR

PINE NEEDLE DR N

JA
ME

S R
D

J AMES
ROAD

EXT

P AT
P L

JE
FF

S
PL

HO
PE

 D
R

JA
SO

N
CI

R

HO
LL

AN
D

CI
R

LYNNHAVEN RD

TR
EE

VI
EW

 D
R

BEVERLY DR

JE
RE

MI
AH

 C
IR

JO
E 

BE
LL

 R
D

RIVERSIDE RD

MACK HILL DR

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

REZ-2022-09

Flannigan Road
Rezoning Request 

EE

SMITH ST

US HWY 84 W
DE

AN
 S

T

TALL PINE DR

PINE NEEDLE DR N

JA
ME

S R
D

J AMES
ROAD

EXT

P AT
P L

JE
FF

S
PL

HO
PE

 D
R

JA
SO

N
CI

R

HO
LL

AN
D

CI
R

LYNNHAVEN RD

TR
EE

VI
EW

 D
R

BEVERLY DR

JE
RE

MI
AH

 C
IR

JO
E 

BE
LL

 R
D

RIVERSIDE RD

MACK HILL DR

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

WRPDO Site Map
Legend

Roads
Railroads
Park
City Limits
Crashzone
Crashzone West
Urban Service Area

Open Water
Valdosta Airport
Wetlands
100 Yr Flood 
Hydrology
Drastic
Recharge Areas
Parcels

. 0 400 800200
Feet

















LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: REZ-2022-10 The Campus Transitional Care Facility, 2193 Howell 
Rd, E-A to P-D, Well & Septic ~23 acres

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: N/A 
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: REZ-2022-10 The Campus Transitional Care Facility, 2193 Howell Rd, E-A to 
P-D, Well & Septic ~23 acres
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: This case represents an attempt by the applicant to change the zoning of ~23 
acres for the development of a Transitional Care Facility. The ULDC defines a Transitional Care Facility as the 
following:

A building or buildings in which is provided long-term, but not permanent living accommodations for one or 
more persons who are in need of short-term or long-term housing assistance, and in which may also be 
provided meals and social services including physical therapy, social therapy, emotional therapy, counseling, 
rehabilitation, or substance abuse recovery assistance.

This potential facility is not currently licensed for substance abuse recovery assistance. Beyond a support 
group or outside visit from a licensed counselor, clients with substance abuse needs will be referred to other 
facilities, organizations, or counselors licensed for such care. The rezoning is necessary because Transitional 
Care Facilities are not an allowable use in Estate Agricultural (E-A) zoning. For reference, the subject property 
has frontage on Howell Road, a County-maintained major collector (3,000 to 6,000 Vehicles Per Day). The 
current uses along this portion of Howell Road are dominantly a mixture of sparsely settled residential and 
agricultural parcels. Concerning the Future Development Map, the subject property is within the rural service 
area and depicted as an Agricultural/Forestry Character Area.

The overall occupancy could reach up to 52 residents based on the proposed site plan before additional life 
safety code measures are applied. The applicant is planning on developing the property in phases, with a 
maximum occupancy of five residents per house, and one resident per cabin.

Overall, staff found the request inconsistent with the Character Area, but consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Comprehensive Plan. The largest concerns for the TRC were ensuring that the proposed use 
was able to be developed on the subject property and that its impacts on the surrounding area were 
manageable.  At this point, it is the hope of staff that the benefit the proposed use brings to the community 
and the proposed site plan with its buffering and setbacks will mitigate any potentially negative effects on 
surrounding properties.



The Planning Commission heard the request and the concerns of the neighbors, and recommended denial by 
a vote of (7-3).

 

OPTIONS: 1) Approve
2) Approve with Conditions
3) Table
4) Deny

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure
 

DEPARTMENT: Planning/Zoning                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: JD Dillard
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:









The Campus
Rezoning Request 

CON

E-A
R-A

C-H

M-2

C-C

R-1
R-21

O-I

M-1

R-P

SHELTON RD

GAINE S LN

JO
NE

SD
R

DASHER JOHNSON RD

BORING POND RD

HUNT RD

MO
OR

E
CR

SG

WHITMER LN

US HWY 84 E

BALDREE LN
DEERFIELD LN

DR
AG

ON
FL

Y 
LN

MO
RR

IS
ON

 R
D

OLD STA T
EN

VIL
LE

RD

ALLISON RD

SHELTON SPUR

GA
I NES LN

PR
O

DU
CT

IO
N 

W
AY

AL
EX

AN
DE

R 
DR

DE
ER

FI
EL

D 
RD

HOWELL RD
SH

ELTO N CREEK DR

RO
W

EL
L R

D
MCDOUGAL LNDAVIS LN Legend

Roads
Railroads
Parcels
Urban Service Area

Zoning Condit ions
WET
YES
City  Limits
Valdos ta Airport

Zoning Districts
C-C
C-G
C-H
CON
E-A
I-S
M-1
M-2
M-3
MAZ - 1
MAZ - 2
MAZ - 3
O-I
P-D
PD-R
R-1
R-10
R-21
R-A
GLPC Zoning

Zoning Location Map

0 2,000
Feet

REZ-2022-10

.

CURRENT ZONING: E-A
PROPOSED ZONING: P-D



SH AST A P INES W AY

GAINES L N

JO
NE

SD
R

HUNT RD

HOWEL L RD

FONTAN A
RD

STOR EY
D R

PA
SA

DE
NA

W
AY

W HUNT RD

BORING P OND RD

DA
SH

ER
JO

HN
SO

N
RD

IN
NE

R
PE

RI
ME

TE
R

RD
D ASHER JOHN SON RD

SH
ELTON CREEK DR

M CDOUGAL LN

HOW ELL RD

HOW ELL RD

US HWY 84 E

OLD NAYLOR RD
DAVIS LN

SHEL TO N
RD

SH AST A P INES W AY

GAINES L N

JO
NE

SD
R

HUNT RD

HOWEL L RD

FONTAN A
RD

STOR EY
D R

PA
SA

DE
NA

W
AY

W HUNT RD

BORING P OND RD

DA
SH

ER
JO

HN
SO

N
RD

IN
NE

R
PE

RI
ME

TE
R

RD
D ASHER JOHN SON RD

SH
ELTON CREEK DR

M CDOUGAL LN

HOW ELL RD

HOW ELL RD

US HWY 84 E

OLD NAYLOR RD
DAVIS LN

SHEL TO N
RD

REZ-2022-10
The Campus

Rezoning Request

Future Development Map

µ
Roads
Functional Classification

1, INTERSTATE
3, OTHER PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
4, M INOR A RTERIA L
5, M AJOR COLL ECTOR
6, M INOR COLL ECTOR
7, L OCAL

Railroads

Open W ater

Urban Serv ice Area

City  Limits
Parcels

0 1,500 3,000750
Feet Agr icu lture / Forestry

Community A ctivi ty Center
Downtown
Established Residentia l
Industrial  Ac tivity Center
Industrial  Area
Institu tional A ctivi ty Center
Linear Greenspac e/Trai ls
Mil l Town
Moody A ctivi ty  Zone

Neighbor hood A ctivi ty  Center
Par k/Recreation/Conservation
Public / Institu tional
Regional  A ctivi ty  Center
Remerton Neighbor hood Vil lage
Rural  A ctivi ty  Center
Rural  Residentia l
Suburban Area
Trans itional Neighborhood
Trans portation/Communication/Uti li ties



EEEE

EEEE EE

EE EEEE

EE

EE

EE
EE

SHELTON RD

GA
IN

ES
 LN

J O
NE

SD
R

DA
SH

ER
JO

H N
SO

N
RD

HUNT
RD

BORING POND RD

US HWY
84 E

DR
AG

ON
FL

Y
LN

RO
W

EL
L

RD

SHELTON
SPUR

GAIN ES LN

OL
D STAT ENV ILL

E
RD

DEERFIELDLN

PR
OD

UC
TIO

N
W

AY

DE
ER

FIE
LD

RD

AL
EX

AN
DE

R
DR

HOWELL RD
SHELTON
CREEK DR

MCDOUGAL
LN

DAVIS LN

Knights Cr eek

!!!

!
!

! !

!
!

!

REZ-2022-10

The Campus
Rezoning Request 

EEEE

EEEE EE

EE EEEE

EE

EE

EE
EE

SHELTON RD

GA
IN

ES
 LN

J O
NE

SD
R

DA
SH

ER
JO

H N
SO

N
RD

HUNT
RD

BORING POND RD

US HWY
84 E

DR
AG

ON
FL

Y
LN

RO
W

EL
L

RD

SHELTON
SPUR

GAIN ES LN

OL
D STAT ENV ILL

E
RD

DEERFIELDLN

PR
OD

UC
TIO

N
W

AY

DE
ER

FIE
LD

RD

AL
EX

AN
DE

R
DR

HOWELL RD
SHELTON
CREEK DR

MCDOUGAL
LN

DAVIS LN

Knights Cr eek

!!!

!
!

! !

!
!

!

WRPDO Site Map
Legend

Roads
Railroads
Park
City Limits
Crashzone
Crashzone West
Urban Service Area

Open Water
Valdosta Airport
Wetlands
100 Yr Flood 
Hydrology
Drastic
Recharge Areas
Parcels

. 0 400800200
Feet



























































































                                                                                                                         May 24, 2022

To whom it may concern:

I am writing this letter to disapprove of the rezoning of property at 2193 Howell 
Rd. My name is Derrick Black and I live at 2699 Howell Rd which is about 1 mile 
from our home. I have lived at this address for 49 years and my wife and I have 
been here for 28 years. I have a son that has started planning for his home here 
as well. We are writing this to ask for your help in denying the rezoning request 
from Brent Moore of Redeemed Living. 

This rezoning request is for a drug\alcohol transition facility with approximately 
50 various living facilities housing anywhere from 1-6 men in each. All these 
men are recovering from various addictions from drugs and alcohol. This is not a 
State mandated facility; it is privately owned and operated. According to the 
information we received at the zoning meeting last night there will not be any 
licensed counselors, medical personnel or security personnel on site. The 
overseer of the property will be a pastor from a church living in one of the 
homes. The rest of the overseer’s will be the tenants that have been there 
longer. They will not be able to drive so they will depend on other drivers, 
friends, business partners, taxis or walk to their destinations. Brent Moore 
stated last night at the zoning meeting that there is a 85-92% chance of addict 
relapse. He also stated that these men have burned all their bridges and have 
nowhere else to turn. Their families have wrote them off. This scares me! These 
men have nothing to loose. Me and my wife have had several family members 
that have had drug and alcohol problems through the years and when an addict 
needs their fix that’s all they can think about, and have no concern or care for 
anyone in their way. There is no formula to tell who will get the help they need 
and who is going through the motions to stay out of jail or meet probation 
requirements. If 50% of these men are there for the right reasons and 50% are 
not , that’s still a lot of undesirable people coming and going around our 
neighborhood. This facility seems to be based on the honor system. Howell road 
is a dark road with a Rail Road crossing about 1000’ away from the property 
where trains are constantly stopped and cars can’t cross until it moves. How 



would you like your wife, daughter, mother, grandmother sitting at these tracks 
waiting for a train and the only thing protecting them is their honor system.

If rezoning is approved this will put the facility within 2.2 miles of JL Lomax 
School, 1.9 miles of Moulton Branch School, 1.5 miles rom New Life Ministries 
Church and 1.9 miles of Moulton Branch Estates all easily within walking 
distance from this facility that has the honor system keeping everyone onsite 
and in line. Redeemed living facilities requires each person accepted to fill out a 
liability waver releasing Redeemed living Inc. from all accountability from any 
damage or incidents caused by anybody living at this facility when offsite. All 
the information in this letter was gathered from zoning meeting or their 
website. 

Thank you for your consideration in this matter.
Derrick Black 
Helen Black 
Hunter Black 



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: REZ-2022-11 Makesh, LLC, 900 Lakes Blvd, C-G, County Utilities, 
1.07 acres

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: N/A
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: REZ-2022-11 Makesh, LLC, 900 Lakes Blvd, C-G, County Utilities, 1.07 acres
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: This request represents an update to a previously approved C-G rezoning 
request. This case was previously considered for C-G zoning with conditions in 2009 (LO-2009-13) and again in 
2014 (REZ-2014-14). Ultimately, the TRC and GLPC recommended approval of the previous cases with 
conditions. Since the original request (2009) was heard, the allowable uses proposed in C-G zoning were 
modified in 2010 with a text amendment, and the previous case was handled by a different agent (Leninco, 
i.e. the operator of the Francis Lake Golf Course). Transitioning back to the current request, the main 
motivation for this rezoning is to remove some of the conditions placed on the property in 2014. The subject 
property is within the Urban Service Area and depicted as Established Residential on the Future Development 
Map. Concerning the subject property’s location, Lakes Blvd. is a state-maintained major collector road.

Staff has attached the conditions from the previous rezoning request, and the applicant would like to remove 
numbers #4 (landscaped berm on the eastern and a portion of the southern property line), #8 (architectural 
design), #9 (dumpster locations), and #11 (light pollution) in order to develop the site as a Dairy Queen. The 
applicant has submitted a site plan depicting landscaping designed to mitigate the light pollution from 
headlights.

Overall, staff finds this request consistent with the current growth trends in the area, and with the 
Community Goals of the Comprehensive Plan. The TRC had no additional objectionable comments, and the 
Planning Commission recommends approval with the four conditions (#4, #8, #9, and #11) being removed by 
a 5-4-1 vote.

 

OPTIONS: 1) Approve
2) Approve with Conditions
3) Table
4) Deny

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure
 

DEPARTMENT: Planning/Zoning                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: JD Dillard



 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:











G
A
 
H

W

Y
 
#
3
7
6
 
(
1
0
0
' 
R
/
W

)

S

BFP

BFP

T

O
N

LY

S

S

D

D
D

D

D

S

SCALE  1"=20'
HALF SCALE  1"=40'

4020 0 2010

PROPOSED
BUILDING

AMERICAN DAIRY QUEEN
MINNEAPOLIS, MN U.S.A.

*REGISTERED U.S. PATENT OFFICE, AMERICAN DAIRY
QUEEN CORPORATION. THIS DRAWING, IT'S DESIGN
DETAIL AND INVENTION ARE THE PROPERTY OF
AMERICAN DAIRY QUEEN INC. (ADQ) AND SHALL NOT BE
COPIED IN ANY MANNER NOR DISCLOSED TO ANY
OUTSIDE  PARTY WITHOUT ADQ CONSENT.

BUILDING TYPE:
DAIRY QUEEN GRILL & CHILL
CORE66

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

&
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

I
!

N
N

O
V

A
TE

PH
O

N
E:

22
9-

24
9-

91
13

 - 
w

w
w

.in
no

va
te

es
.co

m
22

14
 N

. P
at

te
rs

on
 S

tr
ee

t, 
V

al
do

st
a,

 G
A

 3
16

02

LANDSCAPE
PLAN

C5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOW OR FORMERLY LENINCO, LLC DB 1387 PG 15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
LOT 6 BLOCK "B" FRANCIS LAKE SD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
LOT 5 BLOCK "B" FRANCIS LAKE SD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
LOT 4 BLOCK "B" FRANCIS LAKE SD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
(SS-1) SSMH RIM:177.58 INV:170.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
BENCHMARK ELEV:177.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
DROP INLET RIM:177.22 INV:172.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
CATCH BASIN RIM:177.91 INV:172.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
NOW OR FORMERLY DERSHEM LARRY D & HOA THUY AS TRUSTEES DB 6150 PG 257

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
SPEED LIMIT 45 MPH

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
JOB #

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
architects & planners

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
IPG, Incorporated

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
807 Northwood Park Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Valdosta, Georgia 31602

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
T: 229.242.3557

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
E: mail@ipgarchitects.com

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
www.ipgarchitects.com

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
1714

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
07 FEB 2022

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
or reused without permission and credit.

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Architect and may not be reproduced 

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
IPG, Incorporated. 2022

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
These drawings are the property of the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
c

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
BK

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
MW

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
NEW RESTAURANT FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
DAIRY QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
LAKE PARK, GEORGIA  31636

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
LAKES BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
21 FEB 2022

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
25 FEB 2022

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
All existing weeds shall be eradicated from planting and mulch beds by the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
The Landscape Contractor shall be responsible for the fine grading of all

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Landscape Contractor prior to installation of mulch.

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
utility company and shall be responsible for any damage to utilities.

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
and take necessary precautions to prevent damage to these utilities.

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
All planting beds shall be machine-edged to 3" in width and depth.

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
minimum clear trunk unless otherwise noted.

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
proper care of all specified plant materials prior to final payment.

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
discepancy, the quantities shown on the plan will take precedence.

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Existing soil and backfill shall be amended with dolomitic lime at a rate of 2 tons/acre.

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
All deciduous trees, existing and proposed shall be pruned to provide 4 feet of

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
The Landscape Contractor shall provide the owner with written insructions on the

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
The Landscape Contractor shall verify all material quantities.  In the event of a

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
All planting beds shall have a minimum of 3" depth of pinestraw mulch.

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
All planting areas shall be fertilized with 12#/1000 s.f. of 10-10-10 fertilizer.

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
off-site by the Landscape Contractor.  Backfill holes with topsoil free of roots 

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Plant materials and stumps indicated for removal shall be removed and disposed

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
The Landscape Contractor shall coordinate all construction with the appropriate 

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
The Landscape Contractor shall verify the exact location and depth of all utilities

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
All planting beds and lawn areas are to have pre-emergent herbicides applied per manufacture's rates.

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
10.

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
11.

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
12.

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
and rocks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
planting areas.

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
8.

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
9.

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
6.

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
7.

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
5.

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
4.

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
3.

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
PLANTING NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
2.

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Property Owner shall be responsible for maintaining the vegetation and non-vegetative screening materials within transitional buffers and outdoor screening required in conformity with Chapter 4.07 of the ULDC and all conditions of rezoning approval applicable to this property.

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
13.

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
ALL LANDSCAPED AREAS SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH AN IRRIGATION SYSTEM SUFFICIENT TO ENSURE THAT PLANTS ARE ESTABLISHED IN A HEALTHY GROWING CONDITION. IRRIGATION SYSTEMS SHALL PROVIDE AN AUTOMATIC SHUT-OFF FEATURE ACTIVATED DURING RAIN EVENTS. IRRIGATION INSTALLER SHALL COORDINATE WITH SITE CONTRACTOR TO LOCATE AND INSTALL NEEDED SLEEVES UNDER PAVED AREAS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
THE NUMBER, MATERIAL SELECTION AND LOCATION OF PLANTINGS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE THE MINIMUM REQUIRED FOR PERMITTING. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSULT WITH THE OWNER TO DETERMINE ACTUAL PLANT SELECTIONS AND ADDITIONAL PLANTINGS THAT MAY BE DESIRED. THE LOCATION OF ADDITIONAL PLANTINGS SHALL BE AT THE DISCRETION OF THE OWNER. REFER TO ULDC TABLE 4.07.04(C) FOR LISTING OF PERMITTED PLANT MATERIALS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
CM

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
RB

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
CM

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
RB

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
CM

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
23-SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
15-SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
3-IH

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
5-IH

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
5-IH

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
3-RL

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
6-DA

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
6-DA

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
3-YH

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
5-KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
5-YH

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
3-IH

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
5-KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
5-YH

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
5-YH

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
5-KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
5-DA

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
SOD (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
STORM WATER MANAGEMENT AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
13-SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
42-SV



Makesh, LLC
Rezoning Request 

E-A

C-G

P-D R-10

R-P

R-21
C-C

C-H

CON

I 75 NB

I 75  R A MP

FOREST DR

FOREST CIR

LAKES BLVD

DAVID DR

COUNTRY LN

I 75 SB

JOHNSTON WAY
MOSS OAK TR

SPRING
W

ATER DR
JOHNSTONCIR

MILL STORE RD

HAMMOCK TRL

Legend
Roads
Railroads
Parcels
Urban Service Area

Zoning Condit ions
WET
YES
City  Limits
Valdos ta Airport

Zoning Districts
C-C
C-G
C-H
CON
E-A
I-S
M-1
M-2
M-3
MAZ - 1
MAZ - 2
MAZ - 3
O-I
P-D
PD-R
R-1
R-10
R-21
R-A
GLPC Zoning

Zoning Location Map

0 850
Feet

REZ-2022-11

.

CURRENT ZONING: C-G/Amended
PROPOSED ZONING: C-G



LAKES BLVD

DAVID DR

MOSS
OAK

TR

GO
LF

 DR

FRANCIS LAKE DR

COUNTRY LN

I 75 SB

I 75 NB

SPRING W
ATER DR

JOHN STON
CIR

MI
LL

STORE RD

FO
R E

ST
DR

HAMMOCK TRL

I 75 RAMP

LAKES BLVD

DAVID DR

MOSS
OAK

TR

GO
LF

 DR

FRANCIS LAKE DR

COUNTRY LN

I 75 SB

I 75 NB

SPRING W
ATER DR

JOHN STON
CIR

MI
LL

STORE RD

FO
R E

ST
DR

HAMMOCK TRL

I 75 RAMP

REZ-2022-11
Makesh, LLC

Rezoning Request

Future Development Map

µ
Roads
Functional Classification

1, INTERSTATE
3, OTHER PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
4, M INOR A RTERIA L
5, M AJOR COLL ECTOR
6, M INOR COLL ECTOR
7, L OCAL

Railroads

Open W ater

Urban Serv ice Area

City  Limits
Parcels

0 300 600150
Feet

Random Parcel
Agr icu lture / Forestry
Community A ctivi ty Center
Downtown
Established Residentia l
Industrial  Ac tivity Center
Industrial  Area
Institu tional A ctivi ty Center
Linear Greenspac e/Trai ls
Mil l Town
Moody A ctivi ty  Zone

Neighbor hood A ctivi ty  Center
Par k/Recreation/Conservation
Public / Institu tional
Regional  A ctivi ty  Center
Remerton Neighbor hood Vil lage
Rural  A ctivi ty  Center
Rural  Residentia l
Suburban Area
Trans itional Neighborhood
Trans portation/Communication/Uti li ties



E

DA VI D
DR

I 75 NB
I75 RAMPI 75SB

COUNTRY LN

MO SS O AK  TR

LAKES BLVD

MOSS
OAK

T R

SPRING WATER DR
JOHNSTON WAY

MOSS OAK TR

MILL STORERD

MILL
ST

OR
ERD

JOHNSTONCIR

HAM
MOCK TRL

FOREST DR

Ha mmo ck Lakes

Horselot Lake

Fra nces Lake

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

REZ-2022-11

Makesh, LLC
Rezoning Request 

E

DA VI D
DR

I 75 NB
I75 RAMPI 75SB

COUNTRY LN

MO SS O AK  TR

LAKES BLVD

MOSS
OAK

T R

SPRING WATER DR
JOHNSTON WAY

MOSS OAK TR

MILL STORERD

MILL
ST

OR
ERD

JOHNSTONCIR

HAM
MOCK TRL

FOREST DR

Ha mmo ck Lakes

Horselot Lake

Fra nces Lake

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

WRPDO Site Map
Legend

Roads
Railroads
Park
City Limits
Crashzone
Crashzone West
Urban Service Area

Open Water
Valdosta Airport
Wetlands
100 Yr Flood 
Hydrology
Drastic
Recharge Areas
Parcels

. 0 300 600150
Feet



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: REZ-2022-12 Pittman, Phelps, Leonard, Moss Oak Trail, R-10 to 
C-G, County Utilities, ~1.63 acres

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: N/A
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: REZ-2022-12 Pittman, Phelps, Leonard, Moss Oak Trail, R-10 to C-G, 
County Utilities, ~1.63 acres
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: This request represents a change in zoning on the subject properties from 
Suburban Density Residential (R-10) zoning to General Commercial (C-G) zoning. The general motivation, in 
this case, is a speculative commercial use of the subject properties. Access to and from the subject properties 
is currently off Moss Oak Trail (cul de sac) in the Francis Lake subdivision. These lots are currently 
undeveloped. Concerning the Comprehensive Plan Future Development Map, the subject properties are 
within the Urban Service Area and depicted as an Established Residential Character Area. Per Comprehensive 
Plan guidance, C-G zoning is not listed as a recommended zoning within an Established Residential Character 
Area.

Aspects of this case worthy of consideration include the following: 1. The subject properties have frontage on 
Lakes Blvd., a major collector, 2. The commercial zoning of the adjacent property to the west, and 3. The 
future interconnections associated with the existing and future developments. Overall, from a planning 
standpoint, the conversion of the subject property from residential to some form of commercial development 
can complement the surrounding area – especially when you view the
economic development of the subject properties concerning their proximity and view from the I-75 
interchange. At this point, staff believes that the existing residences can be protected, thus honoring the 
established residential depiction on the future development map, while allowing for a reasonable amount of 
economic development to take place in the area.

The TRC reviewed this application and had no objectionable comments, with the determination from the 
Engineering Department that no commercial traffic would be allowed onto the residential subdivision streets. 
Additionally, it should be noted that if the subject property is developed commercially, the minimum buffer 
required would currently be at least 15’ wide and include a 6’ tall opaque privacy fence, three (3) shade trees 
per 100 linear feet, and 19 shrubs per 100 linear feet.

The Planning Commission considered the request and the commentary from the neighbors and ultimately 
recommended for its denial by a (9-0-1) vote.

 



OPTIONS: 1) Approve
2) Approve with Conditions
3) Table
4) Deny

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure
 

DEPARTMENT: Planning/Zoning                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: JD Dillard
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:







Dorothy Pittman
Rezoning Request 

R-10

CON

C-H C-C

C-G

MO
S S

OA
K

TR

LAKES BLVD

SPRIN G
W

ATER
DR

Legend
Roads
Railroads
Parcels
Urban Service Area

Zoning Condit ions
WET
YES
City  Limits
Valdos ta Airport

Zoning Districts
C-C
C-G
C-H
CON
E-A
I-S
M-1
M-2
M-3
MAZ - 1
MAZ - 2
MAZ - 3
O-I
P-D
PD-R
R-1
R-10
R-21
R-A
GLPC Zoning

Zoning Location Map

0 250
Feet

REZ-2022-12

.

CURRENT ZONING: R-10
PROPOSED ZONING: C-G



MOSS OAK TR

LAKES BLVD

SPRI NG
W

ATER
DR

MOSS OAK TR

LAKES BLVD

SPRI NG
W

ATER
DR

REZ-2022-12
Dorothy Pittman

Rezoning Request

Future Development Map

µ
Roads
Functional Classification

1, INTERSTATE
3, OTHER PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
4, M INOR A RTERIA L
5, M AJOR COLL ECTOR
6, M INOR COLL ECTOR
7, L OCAL

Railroads

Open W ater

Urban Serv ice Area

City  Limits
Parcels

0 100 20050
Feet Agr icu lture / Forestry

Community A ctivi ty Center
Downtown
Established Residentia l
Industrial  Ac tivity Center
Industrial  Area
Institu tional A ctivi ty Center
Linear Greenspac e/Trai ls
Mil l Town
Moody A ctivi ty  Zone

Neighbor hood A ctivi ty  Center
Par k/Recreation/Conservation
Public / Institu tional
Regional  A ctivi ty  Center
Remerton Neighbor hood Vil lage
Rural  A ctivi ty  Center
Rural  Residentia l
Suburban Area
Trans itional Neighborhood
Trans portation/Communication/Uti li ties



MO
SS

OAK

TR

LAKES BLVD

MOSS OAK TR

MOSS OAK TR

SPRI NG
W

ATER
DR

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

REZ-2022-12

Dorothy Pittman
Rezoning Request 

MO
SS

OAK

TR

LAKES BLVD

MOSS OAK TR

MOSS OAK TR

SPRI NG
W

ATER
DR

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

WRPDO Site Map
Legend

Roads
Railroads
Park
City Limits
Crashzone
Crashzone West
Urban Service Area

Open Water
Valdosta Airport
Wetlands
100 Yr Flood 
Hydrology
Drastic
Recharge Areas
Parcels

. 0 100 20050
Feet



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: Lowndes County Accountability Court Grant Approval and Cash 
Match

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: $26,147.00
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: Acceptance of FY23 Grant Award for the Lowndes County Accountability 
Court
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: On behalf of the Lowndes County Accountability Court (LCAC) team, and Judge 
Gregory A. Voyles, I would like to thank the Board for all the support you have given us over the years.

LCAC is funded through a reimbursable State Grant. To receive funding through said grant, LCAC must secure 
a cash match from Lowndes County. This year's cash match amount is $26,147.00 (FY23 budget detail 
attached).

All other monies expended by the Board of Commissioners on the Court's behalf are fully reimbursable and 
said payments are received by the County each quarter.
 

OPTIONS: 1. Approval of continued funding and cash match - as requested above.
2. Board's Pleasure

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve
 

DEPARTMENT: Accountability Court                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: Jennifer Fabbri
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



Category Amount

GRANT $37,023.00

MATCH $23,600.77

$60,623.77

IN STATE TRAINING TRAVEL

COORDINATOR TRAVEL $0.00

CASE MGR TRAVEL $0.00

CONFERENCE -7 PEOPLE $4,029.00

$4,029.00

REAGENTS $21,773.00

$4,387.00

$5,354.25

$31,514.25

COURT Case Manager - Contractor $33,705.00

SURVEILLANCE OFFICER- Contractor $6,000.00

$39,705.00

$79,470.00

TOTAL BUDGET $217,888.00

County Match Portion $26,147.00

Funds from Grant $191,741.00

TOTAL CONTRACTORS

TOTAL TREATMENT

AWARDED LCAC Budget 

FY23

COORDINATOR SALARY

TOTAL TRAINING

RECONNECT

ONSITE KITS

TOTAL TESTING

Stats:
Current Active Census : 28 
Graduates to date: 51 (since 2016)
Last graduation June 2022; Next graduation set for late August 2022

Awards and Special Notes - 
LCAC received full certification from the Council of Accountability Court Judges (CACJ) 
the first part of May 2022.  This means we are: 1 - compliant with all state standards 
and best practices; 2 - we continue to be qualified to receive State funding (grants, 
etc...)

LCAC was also asked to submit our name to the "Model Court" program for 
consideration.  This program  recognizes outstanding Courts throughout the State and 
I am hopeful LCAC will be selected to receive this prestigious award.  



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: Lowndes County Juvenile Accountability Court (LCJAC) FY23 
Budget & Grant Award

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: $11,940.00
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(X) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: Acceptance of FY23 Grant Award for the Lowndes County Juvenile 
Accountability Court
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: On behalf of the Lowndes County Juvenile Accountability Court (LCJAC) team, 
and Judge James G. Tunison, Jr., I would like to thank the Board for all the support you have given us.

LCJAC is funded through a reimbursable State Grant. To receive funding through said grant, LCJAC must secure 
a cash match from Lowndes County. This year's cash match amount is $11,940.00 (FY23 budget detail 
attached).

All other monies expended by the Board of Commissioners on the Court's behalf are fully reimbursable and 
said payments are received by the County each quarter.
 

OPTIONS: 1. Approval of continued funding and cash match - as requested above.
2. Board's Pleasure

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve
 

DEPARTMENT: Juvenile Accountability Court                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: Geoffrey 
Martin
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



FY23 Budget Detail Award Worksheet 

Court Name Lowndes County Juvenile Drug Court 

Budget Worksheet Category Line Item Approvals Line Item Totals
Personnel Program Coordinator 33,800.00 $37,256

Program Coordinator Fringe Benefits 3,456.00

Contract Services Treatment Provider 30,000.00 $36,000
Law Enforcement Surveillance Officer 6,000.00

Drug Testing Supplies Onsite Devices 5,000.00 $5,000

Supplies /Other Costs 0.00 $0

Equipment 0.00 $0

In State Training and Travel Annual Conference 3,064.00 $3,064

Transportation Funding CSB Van Service 6,240.00 $6,240

$87,560

Match: $11,940



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: Annual Contract Renewal with the State of Georgia Department 
of Corrections

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: $147,954.00
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(X) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(  ) N/A
(  ) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: Annual Contract Renewal for three (3) Work Details with the Georgia 
Department of Corrections
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: The annual contract for three (3) work details with the Department of 
Corrections is due for renewal. One (1) detail is assigned to the Engineering Department to meet state 
requirements for storm water and two (2) details are assigned to the Public Works Department to clean 
county-owned drainage easements.
 

OPTIONS: 1. Approve the contract renewal and authorize the Chairman to execute the contract.
2. Board's Pleasure

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Board's Pleasure
 

DEPARTMENT: Public Works                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: Robin Cumbus
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



FY23 WORK DETAIL 

WORK DETAIL AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 
AND 

    LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this 1st day of July, 2022, by and between GEORGIA 
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, an agency of the State of Georgia (hereinafter referred to as 
“Department”), and Lowndes County Board of Commissioners, a department, authority, agency or political 
subdivision of the State of Georgia (“Governmental Entity”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
WHEREAS, Department desires to obtain appropriate work for offenders incarcerated at its 

Valdosta State Prison (hereafter “Offenders” and “Facility”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Governmental Entity desires to obtain the services of Offender work crews on public 
works projects in accordance with O.C.G.A. §42-5-60(e). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and the mutual promises and agreements 
hereinafter set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2022 through 11:59 p.m. on 
June 30, 2023(“Term”).  The parties may, by mutual agreement in writing, extend the Agreement 
for additional time periods. 
 

2. Scope of Services.  The Governmental Entity agrees to perform fully and faithfully the services 
described in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein (the “Services”).  
No additional or different services shall be performed unless provided for by an amendment to this 
Agreement, executed by the parties in the manner provided for herein. 
 

3. Prohibited Contact and Dealings with Offenders.   
 

A. Governmental Entity will take all reasonable steps to ensure that its officials, employees, 
students, and agents refrain from any personal dealings with the Offenders working under 
this Agreement.  Such prohibited conduct includes, but is not limited to, giving, receiving, 
selling, buying, trading, bartering, or exchanging anything of value with Offenders. 
 

B. Governmental Entity will take all reasonable steps to ensure that Offenders working under 
this agreement will have no contact with any unauthorized civilians. 
 

C. In the event that Governmental Entity is a school or school system, Governmental Entity 
will take all reasonable steps to ensure that Offenders working under this Agreement will 
have no contact with any student of Governmental Entity's school system. 
 

D. Governmental Entity will take all reasonable steps to ensure that no gun or other weapon, 
intoxicating liquor, any drug of any type, any cellular telephone or communications device 
of any type, or contraband item specified by Department, is made available by its officials, 
employees, students, and agents to any Offender working under this Agreement on any 
property under Governmental Entity’s control. 



FY23 WORK DETAIL 

 
4. Workplace Safety.  Governmental Entity agrees to provide a safe workplace for Offender work 

details in accordance with State law.  Governmental Entity shall be responsible for the coordination 
between Offender work details and other workers in the workplace.  Department shall be 
responsible for the custody of Offenders at all times, including security, meals, and medical care.  
Department and Governmental Entity agree to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
orders of Federal, State and Local governments in the performance of the Work. 
 

5. Termination for Convenience.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) 
days’ written notice.  The seven (7) days will commence with the receipt of the notice by the non-
canceling party. 
 

6. Notices.  Any notice under this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if delivered by hand (against 
receipt) or if sent by registered or certified mail -- return receipt requested, to a party hereto at the 
address set forth below or to such other address as the parties may designate by notice from time 
to time in accordance with this Agreement. 

 
If to Governmental Entity:  Lowndes County Board of Commissioners 
      Attn: Robin Cumbus 

P.O. Box 1349 
Valdosta, GA 31603 
rcumbus@lowndescounty.com 

      
If to Department:   Jennifer Ammons 
     General Counsel 

Georgia Department of Corrections 
State Office South, Gibson Hall, 3rd Floor 
P.O. Box 1529 
Forsyth, GA  31029 

 
With a copy to:    Valdosta State Prison 

Attn: Pamela Tillman 
P.O. Box 310 
3259 Val Tech Road 
Valdosta, GA 31063 

 pamela.tillman@gdc.ga.gov 
 

7. Sole Benefit.  Department and Governmental Entity enter into this Agreement for their sole benefit.  
Department and Governmental Entity do not intend to give any rights pursuant to this Agreement 
to any other parties that are not signatories to this Agreement.  These other parties include, but are 
not limited to, any Offender(s) who participates in the work detail(s) outlined in this Agreement.  
Department and Governmental Entity do not intend for such Offender(s) or other parties that are 
not signatories to this Agreement to be third party beneficiaries to this agreement. 
 

8. Amendment.  The parties recognize and agree that it may be necessary or convenient for the parties 
to amend this Agreement so as to provide for the orderly implementation of all of the undertakings 
described herein, and the parties agree to cooperate fully in connection with such amendments if 
and as necessary.  However, no change, modification or amendment to this Agreement shall be 
effective unless the same is reduced to writing and signed by the parties hereto. 
 

9. Governing Law.  This Agreement is executed in the State of Georgia, and all matters pertaining to 



FY23 WORK DETAIL 

the validity, construction, interpretation and effect of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws 
of the State of Georgia. Any lawsuit or other action brought against the Department and the State 
based upon or arising from the Contract shall be brought in the Superior Court of Fulton County 
Georgia. 
 

10.  Drug – Free Workplace.     Governmental Entity will provide a drug-free workplace for the 
Offenders who are working under this Agreement. 
 

11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original but all of which shall constitute one agreement.  No party shall be bound by this 
Agreement until all parties have executed it. 
 

12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between 
the parties hereto and replaces, cancels and supersedes any prior agreements and understandings 
relating to the subject matter hereof; and all prior representations, agreements, understandings and 
undertakings between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof are merged herein. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused the authorized representatives of each to 

execute this Agreement on the day and year first above written. 
 
GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF   GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY: 
CORRECTIONS: 
 
By: ____________________________  By: ____________________________ 
      Jennifer Ammons 
      General Counsel    Print Name: _____________________ 
 
      Title:___________________________ 
 
Date: ___________________________  Date: ___________________________ 
 
FACILITY WARDEN/SUPERINTENDENT 
 
By: ____________________________ 
 
Print Name: _____________________ 
 
Date: ___________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



FY23 WORK DETAIL 

 
EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Governmental Entity Provides Vehicle 

 
The Parties hereby agree to the following: 
 
A. Delivery of Services: Department agrees to provide Governmental Entity with three (3) Offender 

work details. Each work detail provided will have a maximum of ten (10) Offenders (“Work 
Detail”) as well as one (1) full-time correctional officer (“Correctional Officer”). The Work Detail 
will perform labor on public works projects described in an attachment hereto or as communicated 
to Department from time to time in the manner provided herein (the “Work”). Department shall 
have the right and responsibility to control the time and manner of executing the Work through 
the Correctional Officer that is assigned to supervise Work Detail. For purposes of this paragraph, 
the Correctional Officer shall be acting as an agent of Governmental Entity. Governmental Entity 
shall also have the right and responsibility to direct the Correctional Officer concerning the Work. 
Governmental Entity acknowledges and agrees that the Work shall not include Offender labor 
that benefits private persons or corporations. The Department’s delivery of services may, at the 
sole discretion of the Department, be suspended due to the unavailability of offenders, offender 
or officer illness, or any other cause. In the event the Department suspends the delivery of services, 
the Governmental Entity will not be charged for the time of suspension. 
 

B. Vehicles, Equipment and Supplies. Governmental Entity agrees to supply vehicles suitable for 
transporting Work Detail to and from the location or locations of the Work. Governmental Entity 
agrees that the vehicle(s) supplied shall be caged and equipped for transporting offenders in a 
secured manner to and from the location or locations of the Work. The Correctional Officer shall 
be responsible for transporting the Work Detail to and from the location or locations of the Work 
in the vehicles provided by Governmental Entity. In performing such transportation services, 
Correctional Officer shall be acting as an agent for Governmental Entity. Government Entity is 
responsible for ensuring that each vehicle used for transporting Work Details is equipped with a 
mobile radio which complies with federal law, specifically Federal Communications Commission 
(“FCC”) Order 04-292. The mobile radio equipment will be high power, with appropriate 
antennae for maximum output and range of coverage. On December 20, 2004, the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC) issued Order No. 04-292, which requires all state and local 
law enforcement agencies using below 512-megahertz mobile radio equipment to begin using 
12.5 kilohertz Narrowband Mobile Communications radios by January 1, 2013. Governmental 
Entity further agrees to obtain an appropriate automobile liability insurance policy which will 
provide insurance coverage for the correctional officer’s use and operation of the vehicle 
discussed in this paragraph. Governmental Entity agrees to provide Department with appropriate 
proof of automobile liability insurance for said vehicle within thirty (30) days of the 
commencement of this Agreement. Governmental Entity shall also supply all necessary tools, 
equipment and supplies for the performance of the Work, including all safety gear and any 
necessary protective clothing. Small quantities of gasoline shall be dispensed, stored and carried 
only in containers approved for this purpose by the National Fire Protection Association. 
Governmental Entity agrees to assume full responsibility for the condition, maintenance, damage 
or loss of any tools, equipment or supplies provided hereunder. 

 
C. Compensation. Governmental Entity agrees to pay Department the sum of One Hundred Forty-

Seven Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty-Nine Dollars ($147,954.00)) per year for the Term of this 
Agreement. Governmental Entity acknowledges that the foregoing sum is commensurate with 
labor supplied, salary, and benefits for Correctional Officer assigned to the Work Detail. This 



FY23 WORK DETAIL 

amount does not include overtime provided by Correctional Officer in performing the Work. 
Governmental Entity expressly agrees to pay Department for any overtime provided by 
Correctional Officer at an overtime rate of one and one half (1½) times Correctional Officer’s 
hourly rate. Work Detail will be provided four (4) days per week for the Term of this Agreement, 
with the exception of state and federal holidays and up to fifteen (15) additional days due to annual 
leave, sick leave, mandatory training days for the correctional officer, periods of inclement 
weather, and facility emergencies, such as offender disturbances and medical quarantine 
(collectively “Off Days”). Days in which the Governor closes State Offices or substantially delays 
State Offices’ opening (Governor Days) in the county in which the Work Detail is to perform or 
is in which Offenders are housed, are excluded from “Off Days”, and shall not count against the 
Department as an “Off Day”. For each day in excess of the Off Days, excluding “Governor Days” 
that the Work Detail is not provided during the Term, compensation due to Department shall be 
reduced by Two Hundred Thirty-Seven Dollars and Ten Cents ($237.10) per detail. Where 
possible, Department will give advance notice to Governmental Entity of Off Days and will 
provide Governmental Entity with an explanation of the reason for any Off Days on Department’s 
monthly invoice, which invoice is due and payable Thirty (30) days from receipt by Governmental 
Entity. Any credits due Governmental Entity shall be noted by Department on this invoice. Work 
Detail will be provided for ten (10) hours per day, including time for transportation and 
supervision of Work Detail exiting and re-entering Facility. 

 



LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM

SUBJECT: American Rescue Plan Funding for Utilities Repairs with Carter & 
Sloope Engineering

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: June 16, 2022  
  

BUDGET IMPACT: $1,220,000.00
 FUNDING SOURCE:

 

(  ) Annual 
(  ) Capital
(  ) N/A
(X) SPLOST 
(  ) TSPLOST

 Work Session/Regular Session

 

  

COUNTY ACTION REQUESTED ON: American Rescue Plan Funding for Utilities Repairs with Carter & Sloope 
Engineering
 

HISTORY, FACTS AND ISSUES: This item is for the engineering agreements with Carter & Sloope Engineering 
for the American Rescue Plan funding. The projects covered in these agreements include phase I and II of the 
South Lowndes LAS expansion, the Val-Del watermain extension, and the permanent bypass pumps on trunk 
line lift stations. The total engineering costs for the projects are $1,220,000.00. Staff recommends approval 
and to authorize the Chairman to sign the agreements. 
 

OPTIONS: (1.) Approve
(2.) Board's Pleasure

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve
 

DEPARTMENT: Utilities                                                    DEPARTMENT HEAD: Steve Stalvey
 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:



  

6310 Peake Road ♦ Macon, Georgia 31210 ♦ 478.477.3923 tel  ♦ 478.477.4691 fax 
 

February 16, 2021 
 

 
Honorable Bill Slaughter, Chairman 
Lowndes County Board of Commissioners 
327 N. Ashley Street 
3rd Floor 
Valdosta, GA 31601 
 
 
RE: Lowndes County, Georgia  

Letter Agreement- OPB-ARPA Award 
Pump Station Improvements – Permanent Bypass Pumps, On Site Crain / Hoists 
C&S File No.: L8400.072 (Invoice File) 

 
 
Dear Chairman Slaughter: 
  

Carter & Sloope, Inc. (C&S or Engineer) is pleased to submit this Proposal/Scope of Services letter 
for the above referenced project to provide engineering services to the Lowndes County Board of 
Commissioners (Client or Owner) for preliminary engineering, assistance with funding 
applications, engineering design, permitting and bidding assistance, and construction phase 
services including general administration of construction contract for the proposed Pump Station 
Improvements – Permanent Bypass Pumps, On Site Crain / Hoists Project. The scope of services 
described below is based on our understanding of the project from discussions and emails with the 
County throughout the past several years. 

 
Scope of Work (Basic Services) 
 
1. Preliminary Engineering / Funding Assistance 

 
C&S will meet with the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners to discuss and define the scope 
and boundaries of the project. Other preliminary work may include developing conceptual plans 
and preliminary opinions of probable project costs and all work prior to developing the scope of 
work. C&S will advise the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners of any need for them to 
provide data or services which are not part of Engineer’s Basic Services. 
 
Our understanding of the Scope of Work includes the following:  
 

The scope of work at the County’s lift station is two-fold. A permanent bypass pump will be 
installed at the following six (6) lift stations: Bevel Creek, Whitewater, Heart Road, Blue Lake, 
Highway 84, and Frances Lake. The bypass pump will serve as the station’s 
backup/redundancy method if the primary pumping failed at any time. The new pump will be 
connected to the existing wet well and force main at the station on a concrete housekeeping 
pad. Where necessary based on location, the pump can be installed in an enclosure to reduce 
sound (i.e. if near a residential neighborhood). Electrical and controls will be installed on site 
with the new pump. Of the 6 stations, the following three (3) will also be retrofitted with an on-
site crane/hoist system: Whitewater, Frances Lake, and Blue Lake. Those stations need a local 
mechanism for retrieving pumps from the wet well because of their layout and location. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 2 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

C&S will assist the County and grant administrator in preparing the application for OPB-
ARPA (American Rescue Plan Act) funding to accomplish the project scope described above. 
At a minimum cost estimate, project schedules, and a project narrative will be developed by 
C&S for usage in the application. Once funded, C&S will continue to work with the grant 
administrator in completing the requirements necessary for a successful completion of the 
project. This includes any special conditions or special requirements of the OPB-ARPA grant 
program. 
 

2. Engineering Design 
 
C&S will furnish a 2-person survey crew to survey the project areas.  Field-run linear and topographic 
surveying will generate 2 ft. contour data of the project area tied to the Georgia State Plane Coordinate 
System using NAVD-88 elevation datum and it will locate the existing features including any above 
ground utilities or below ground utilities that are marked by the utility owner.  We will not conduct 
any boundary surveys unless requested by the Client as an Additional Service or unless included as 
part of our Basic Services for providing Easement sketches. Prior to beginning surveying, we will 
contact the Utilities Protection Center and request a design locate.  It has been our experience that 
most non-municipal utility owners like the phone, power and cable companies, do not respond or 
respond very slowly to design locate requests so it has been our experience that local knowledge from 
Client’s personnel is extremely valuable; therefore, we will work closely with the Client in identifying 
areas of potential conflict.  C&S will not conduct any subsurface investigations or subsurface utility 
engineering (SUE) to locate existing utilities or determine elevations of subsurface utilities unless 
requested by the Client as an Additional Service. 
 
After the linear and topographic surveying is completed, C&S will prepare preliminary design 
documents for the proposed project within 4 months.  At approximately 60% completion, we will 
meet with Client’s personnel to present the preliminary design for review.  Within 2 months after 
receipt, we will address any comments the Client has with the preliminary design and then prepare 
and furnish detailed final design Drawings and Specifications in a 16-division format (100% complete) 
indicating the scope, extent and character of the work to be performed and furnished by the 
Contractor during the construction of the project.  We will submit the 100% complete Drawings and 
Specifications to the Client for their review and approval and we will review any comments and 
recommendations and incorporate needed changes in the final design 100% complete Documents, 
which will include detailed construction plans and technical specifications of the following general 
items: 

a. Civil engineering design including site work, yard piping, valves, hydraulic design and soil 
erosion and sediment control 

b. Structural engineering necessary to design structural components of project; including 
foundations and concrete wall sections.  

Contemporaneous with the presentation of each design, C&S will provide the Client with a 
Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost and Total Project Costs known to the Engineer 
for both the preliminary design (60% complete) and final designs (100% complete).  This preliminary 
cost estimate will itemize the quantities and anticipated unit prices for each component needed for 
the project. 

 
C&S will also provide the Client with one (1) full-size set of final design documents (100% complete) 
plus digital copies in Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format.  All other documents, including calculations, 
estimates, etc., will be submitted in their native format. 
 

3. Permitting Assistance 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 3 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

After the final design documents are approved by the Client, C&S will provide technical criteria, 
written descriptions, and design data to assist the Client in obtaining permits required for the 
project with the understanding that it is the Client’s sole responsibility to secure permits and pay 
all necessary permit fees.  We will complete the necessary permit applications and submit the 
required copies of the final construction drawings and technical specifications to the appropriate 
review agencies for approval of the necessary permits to construct the project.  We will also assist 
the Client in consultations with such agencies and revise the Drawings and Specifications and 
permit applications in response to directives from such agencies, if necessary.  We anticipate 
submitting the following: 

 
a. Land Disturbing Permit Application to the Local Issuing Authority, which is Lowndes 

County; 
b. Wastewater Project Submittal to submit to the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 

Environmental Protection Division (EPD); 
 

Note that we will provide information to the Contractor to submit the NPDES Permit Application 
for Temporary Stormwater Discharge Associated from Construction Activity for Infrastructure Construction 
Projects (GAR 100002) and the Notice of Intent to EPD through the GEOS system. 

 
4. Bidding 
 

C&S will assist the Client in advertising and obtaining competitive and qualified bids for the 
project in accordance with local and State law.  The advertisement period shall last a minimum of 
30 days and the Client will pay all necessary advertising fees.  C&S will provide the Client with 
the necessary Bidding Documents, which will include one (1) full-size hard copy set of final design 
Drawings and Specifications to be kept on file during the advertisement period.  The client may 
place a copy of the Advertisement for Bids (Section 00100) on their website during the 
advertisement period, however, electronic copies of the entire set of Bidding Documents shall not 
be placed on the Client’s website, FTP site or other electronic platform during Bidding for 
download by bidders or any third party without the Engineer’s consent and approval.   
 
C&S will maintain a record of prospective bidders to whom Bidding Documents have been issued 
and receive and process nominal fees or charges from bidders to compensate the Engineer for costs 
associated with printing, reproduction and shipping the Bidding Documents to bidders.  We will 
respond to Requests for Information (RFIs) and issue Addenda as appropriate to clarify, correct, 
or change the Bidding Documents.  We will also consult with the Client and participate in all 
decisions as to the acceptability of substitute materials, subcontractors, suppliers, and other 
individuals and entities proposed by prospective contractors for those portions of the project as to 
which such acceptability is required by the Bidding Documents.  
 
C&S will attend and manage the Bid Opening, review bids, and prepare a Certified Bid 
Tabulation.  We will provide a Letter of Recommendation to the Client regarding award of the 
contract as appropriate and assist in assembling and executing the contracts for the Project.   
 
C&S will prepare the Notice of Award and Contract Documents and forward them to the selected 
Contractor for execution.  We will receive the executed contracts, bonds and insurance documents 
from the contractor and forward them to the Client for their review and approval.   

 
 
5. Construction Contract Administration 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 4 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

 
Management of construction efforts (i.e. “construction management” services) are specifically 
excluded from our Scope of Work; however, if the Client authorizes us to proceed, C&S will 
provide professional services in the general administration of the construction contract and act as 
the Client’s representative during construction to the extent and limitations of the duties, 
responsibilities and authority of the Engineer as established in this written Agreement and in the 
Contract Documents. For the purposes of this Agreement, we are assuming the contract period 
will be 180 calendar days (or 6-months).  After the contracts have been executed by all parties, 
C&S will complete, with reasonable promptness, the following tasks as needed during 
construction of the project: 

 
a. Pre-Construction Conference: Attend and lead one (1) pre-construction conference that will be 

hosted by the Client at their office and issue a Notice to Proceed to the selected Contractor. 
 
b. Baselines and Benchmarks:  As appropriate, establish baselines and benchmarks for locating the 

Work which, in the Engineer’s judgment, are necessary to enable the Contractor to proceed. 
 
c. Clarifications and Interpretations (Field Orders): Respond in writing with reasonable promptness 

to Requests for Information (RFI’s) and issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of 
the Contract Documents as appropriate to the orderly completion of Contractor’s work.  Such 
clarifications and interpretations will be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable 
from the Contract Documents and shall be provided as part of the Engineer’s Scope of 
Services; however, if the Contractor’s request for information, clarification, or interpretation 
are, in the Engineer’s professional opinion, for information readily apparent from reasonable 
observation of field conditions or a review of the Contract Documents, or are reasonably 
inferable there from, the Engineer shall be entitled to compensation for Additional Services 
for the Engineer’s time spent responding to such request provided the Engineer notify Client 
in advance that it deems such request to be so apparent, seek compensation for such 
clarification and interpretation and Client does not timely instruct the Engineer not to 
undertake the clarification or interpretation.  Should the Client agree to reimburse the 
Engineer for these Additional Services, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the 
Client that will deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the 
Contractor. 

 
d. Change Orders:  Review and recommend Change Order justifications and prepare change orders 

to modify the Contract Documents as may be necessary. 
 
e. Shop Drawings and Samples:  Review and approve or take other appropriate action in respect to 

Shop Drawings and Samples and other data which Contractor is required to submit, but only 
for general conformance with the information given in the Contract Documents and 
compatibility with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents.  Such reviews and approvals or other action will not 
extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto. 

 
f. Schedules:  Review and determine the acceptability of schedules which the Contractor is 

required to develop and submit to Engineer, including the Progress Schedule, Schedule of 
Submittals, and Schedule of Values.  Since C&S will have no control over any Contractor’s 
schedule or work progress, we cannot develop and control the construction schedule beyond 
establishing the contract time and establishing liquidated damages if the Contractor does not 
obtain substantial completion within the required contract time.  



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 5 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

 
g. Substitutes and “or equal”:  Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or “or-equal” 

materials and equipment proposed by the Contractor, but subject to the provisions outlined in 
Additional Services. 

 
h. Progress Meetings: C&S will attend progress meetings at the jobsite as needed, but at a 

minimum, monthly.  We will prepare meeting agendas, lead the progress meetings and issue 
meeting minutes for review and approval by the Client and Contractor. 

 
i. Applications for Payments:  Based on Engineer’s observations as an experienced and qualified 

professional and on review of Applications for Payment and accompanying supporting 
documentation: 
 
1) Determine the amount that Engineer recommends Contractor be paid.  Such 

recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute Engineer’s 
representation to Client, based on such observations and review, that, to the best of 
Engineer’s reasonable knowledge, information and belief, Contractor’s Work has 
progressed to the point indicated, the quality of such Work is generally in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract 
Documents, and being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it 
is Engineer’s responsibility to observe Contractor’s Work.  In the case of unit price work, 
Engineer’s recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities and 
classifications of Contractor’s Work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the 
Contract Documents). 

2) By recommending any payment to the Contractor, Engineer shall not thereby be deemed 
to have represented that observations made by Engineer to check the quality or quantity of 
Contractor’s Work as it is performed and furnished have been exhaustive, extended to every 
aspect of Contractor’s Work in progress, or involved detailed or special inspections of the 
Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement. 
Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment including final payment will 
impose on Engineer responsibility to supervise, direct, or control Contractor’s Work in 
progress or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction 
or safety precautions or programs incident thereto, or Contractor’s compliance with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s furnishing and performing the Work beyond the 
responsibilities specifically assigned to the Engineer in this Agreement.  It will also not 
impose responsibility on Engineer to make any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or to 
determine that title to any portion of the Work in progress, materials, or equipment has 
passed to Client free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, or 
that there may not be other matters at issue between Client and Contractor that might affect 
the amount that should be paid. 

j. Record Drawings:  Prepare and furnish the Client one (1) set of reproducible and one (1) 
electronic copy in Adobe Acrobat PDF format of the Project Record Drawings showing 
appropriate record information that is annotated and furnished to us by the Contractor in 
accordance with the Contract Documents after construction is complete.    

 
k. Contractor’s Completion Documents: Receive from the Contractor and transmit to the Client 

operating and maintenance manuals, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 6 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

evidence of insurance required by the Contract Documents, certificates of inspection, tests and 
approvals, Shop Drawings, Samples and other data, including the annotated Record 
Documents and Record Drawings which are to be assembled by Contractor and furnished to 
us. 

 
l. Substantial Completion:  After receiving notice from Contractor that they consider the entire 

Work complete and ready for its intended use, we will conduct one (1) pre-final observation 
in company with the Client and Contractor to observe the Contractor’s work to determine if, 
based on the Engineer’s professional opinion and belief and based only on information 
available at the time of pre-final on-site observation, the Work is substantially complete.  If we 
do not consider the Work substantially complete, we will notify the Contractor in writing 
giving reasons therefore.  If, after considering any objections of Client, Engineer considers the 
Work substantially complete, Engineer shall deliver a certificate of Substantial Completion to 
Client and Contractor in accordance with the provisions in the Contract Documents.  
Attached to the certificate will be a punch-list of items that, in the Engineer’s professional 
opinion, knowledge and belief, are deficient and must be completed or corrected before we 
recommend final payment be made to the Contractor by the Client.  The certificate of 
Substantial Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional 
opinion and therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.   

 
m. Final Notice of Acceptability of the Work:  After receiving notice from the Contractor that the 

punch-list items are completed, we will conduct one (1) final on-site observation in company 
with Client and the Contractor to determine if the completed Work of Contractor is acceptable 
in the Engineer’s professional opinion, reasonable knowledge and belief and based only on 
information available at the time of final on-site observation and to the extent of the services 
provided by Engineer under this Agreement, so that Engineer may recommend, in writing, 
final payment to Contractor.  We will notify the Contractor and the Client in writing of any 
particulars in which the final observation reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. 

 
n. Project Completion Statement: EPD will require a statement from the Engineer of Record that 

the project has been completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and 
that the Contractor has satisfactorily completed the project.  Therefore, after we conduct the 
final on-site observation, we will, upon determining that in the Engineer’s professional opinion 
and belief and based only on information available at the time of final on-site observation, 
furnish a letter to EPD and one (1) copy to the Client that the Project is completed in 
accordance with EPD’s approved Drawings and Specifications.  The Statement of Project 
Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional opinion and 
therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.  The statement of project 
completion will be for the sole use of the Client and the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources, Environmental Protection Division and cannot be used or relied upon by any third 
party without the expressed written permission from C&S. 

 
o. Limitation of Responsibilities:  Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any 

Contractor, or of any subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or 
furnishing any portions of the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer 
shall not be responsible for the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 

 
6. Construction Observation 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 7 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

If the Client does not authorize C&S to provide onsite construction observations services, then it 
is understood that the Engineer’s Scope of Services under this Agreement does not include 
construction phase services including, but not limited to, general administration of the 
construction contract, acting as the Client’s representative during construction,  and/or providing 
onsite project/construction observation or review of the Contractor’s performance or any other 
construction phase services, and that such services will be provided for by the Client. The Client 
assumes all responsibility for interpretation of the Contract Documents and for construction 
observation and the Client waives any claims against the Engineer that may be in any way 
connected thereto. 
 
In addition, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, the 
Engineer) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense 
costs, arising out of or in any way connected with the performance of such services by other 
persons or entities and from any and all claims arising from modifications, clarifications, 
interpretations, adjustments or changes made to the Contract Documents to reflect changed field 
or other conditions, except for claims arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Engineer. 
 
Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, or of any 
subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any portions of 
the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer shall not be responsible for 
the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 
 
If the Client requests in writing that the Engineer provide any specific construction phase services, 
and if the Engineer agrees in writing to provide such services, then the Engineer shall be 
compensated for providing these services as an Additional Services. 

 
7. Easement Sketches/Property Plats 

 
C&S will prepare easement sketches/property plats, if needed, for temporary and/or permanent 
easements and/or property purchase.  We do not know exactly how many easements and/or plats, 
if any, will be needed because the surveying and preliminary and/or final layout of the proposed 
utility has not been completed; however, we will attempt to design the proposed utility in such a way 
as to have the least impact as possible to private property.  Therefore, we will invoice hourly for 
preparing easements sketches as shown below. 
 

 
Fee Basis 
 
We propose to complete our work for Basic Services described herein for the lump sum and/or hourly 
amounts as scheduled below.  Hourly amounts shall be determined in accordance with our Hourly 
Fee Schedule.    
 

Task No. Description Fee Basis 

1 Preliminary Engineering / Funding 
Assistance  $0.00 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 8 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Additional Services  
 
Services not included within the Basic Scope of Services above, which are considered Additional Services, 
are specifically excluded from the Scope of the Engineer’s services, but can be provided on an hourly basis 
in accordance with our Hourly Fee Schedule or as agreed to in writing by the Client and the Engineer.  
Additional Services include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Services resulting from significant changes in the scope, extent, or character of the portions of the 

Project designed or specified by Engineer or its design requirements including, but not limited to, 
changes in size, complexity, Client’s schedule, character of construction, or method of financing; 
and revising previously accepted reports, Drawings or Specifications, or other project related 
documents when such revisions are required by changes in Laws and regulations enacted 
subsequent to the date of this proposal or are due to any other causes beyond Engineer’s control. 

b. Services required as a result of Client providing incomplete or incorrect Project information to 
Engineer. 

c. Furnishing services of Engineer’s Sub-Consultants, if any, for other than Basic Services. 
d. Preparing for, coordinating with, participating in and responding to structured independent review 

processes, including, but not limited to construction management, cost estimating, project peer 
review, value engineering, and constructability review requested by Client; and performing or 
furnishing services required to revise studies, reports, Drawings, Specifications, or other Bidding 
Documents as a result of such review processes. 

e. Preparing additional Bidding Documents or Contract Documents for alternate bids or prices 
requested by Client for the Work or a portion thereof. 

f. Determining the acceptability of substitute materials and equipment proposed after the Bidding 
and making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the acceptance of substitute 
materials or equipment other than “or-equal” items; and services after the award of the 
Construction Contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of a substitution which is 
found to be inappropriate for the Project or an excessive number of substitutions. 

g. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding, or renegotiating contracts for construction, 
materials, equipment, or services. 

h. Providing Construction Phase services beyond the construction Contract Times, which is 
estimated at 180 days, or man-hours listed herein. 

i. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for Client in any litigation, arbitration, or 
other dispute resolution process related to the Project.  Preparation time for deposition and trial 
testimony or arbitration will be charged at hourly rate multiplied by 1.25. Actual time for 
deposition, trial testimony or arbitration including travel time will be charged at hourly rate 
multiplied by 2.0. Reimbursable expenses will be charged at actual cost multiplied by 1.15. 

j. Providing more extensive services required to enable Engineer to issue notices or certifications 
requested by Client and not specifically provided in the Basic Services. 

2-3 Engineering Design, Permitting 
Assistance $70,000 

4 Bidding $10,000 

5 Construction Contract Administration                                   $20,000 

6-7 Construction Observation, Easement 
Sketches, Property Plats Hourly 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 9 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

k. Services in connection with Work Change Directives and Change Orders to reflect changes 
requested by Client so as to make compensation commensurate with the extent of the Additional 
Services rendered. 

l. Additional or extended services made necessary by (1) emergencies or acts of God endangering 
the Work, (2) the presence at the Site of any Hazardous Materials and/or Environmental 
Conditions (the presence of asbestos, PCBs, petroleum, hazardous substances or waste, and 
radioactive materials), (3) Work damaged by fire or other cause during construction, (4) a 
significant amount of defective, neglected, or delayed work by Contractor, (5) acceleration of the 
progress schedule involving services beyond normal working hours, or (6) default by Contractor. 

m. Reviewing Shop Drawings more than two (2) times as a result of repeated inadequate submissions 
by Contractor. In such an event, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the Client that will 
deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the Contractor. 

n. Geotechnical engineering and materials testing during construction.  The Client should contract 
directly with a geotechnical engineer for geotechnical consulting services, if needed. 

o. Archeological and Historical Preservation consulting; 
p. Delineating wetlands or flood plain determinations. 
q. U.S. Army Corps of Engineering Permitting; 
r. Providing topographic surveys or construction surveys and/or staking to enable Contractor to 

perform its work not specifically detailed in the Basic Services; and,  and any type of property or 
boundary surveys or easements or related engineering or surveying services needed for the transfer 
of interests in real property; and providing other special field surveys not specifically detailed in 
the Basic Services. 

s. Assistance with funding alternative including, but not limited to, loan/funding applications, grant 
writing, engineering reports, rates studies, etc. unless specifically included in the Basic Services; 

t. Environmental Surveys including, but not limited to, wetlands, endangered species, cultural 
resources, historic preservation resources or special sub-consultants for permits; 

u. Preparing for and participating in public meetings and/or public hearings unless specifically 
included in the Basic Services; 

v. Other services performed or furnished by Engineer not otherwise detailed or provided for in this 
Agreement. 

w. All building and permit fees and building inspection fees 
 
Hourly Fee Schedule 
 
Hourly rates used for Basic and/or Additional Services shall be determined by multiplying individual 
hourly rates of each class of employee by the number of hours spent performing the service. 
 

Employee Classification          Hourly Rates 
Principal IV $255 
Principal III $230 
Principal II $205 
Principal I $200 
Principal  $190 
Senior Professional Engineer V $230 
Senior Professional Engineer IV $215 
Senior Professional Engineer III $195 
Senior Professional Engineer II $180 
Senior Professional Engineer I $165 
Project Engineer VI $155 
Project Engineer V $145 
Project Engineer IV $135 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 10 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Project Engineer III $125 
Project Engineer II $115 
Project Engineer I $105 
Staff Engineer $  95 
Project Manager IX $210 
Project Manager VIII $200 
Project Manager VII $190 
Project Manager VI $180 
Project Manager V $170 
Project Manager IV $160 
Project Manager III $150 
Project Manager II $140   
Project Manager I  $130 
Funding Specialist IV $135 
Funding Specialist III $125 
Funding Specialist II $115 
Funding Specialist I $  95 
Funding Specialist $  75 
Design Technician V $120 
Design Technician IV $110 
Design Technician III $100 
Design Technician II $  90 
Design Technician I $  80 
CADD Drafter $  60 
Construction Observer VII $145 
Construction Observer VI $135  
Construction Observer V $125 
Construction Observer IV $115  
Construction Observer III $105 
Construction Observer II $  95 
Construction Observer I $  75 
Administrative Support Staff V $100 
Administrative Support Staff IV $  90 
Administrative Support Staff III $  80 
Administrative Support Staff II $  70 
Administrative Support Staff I $  60 
Registered Land Surveyor $105 
2-Person Survey Team $165 
GIS Technician $  80 
Sub-Consultants (if required) Actual Cost X 1.15 

 
C&S reserves the right to adjust the Hourly Fee Schedule annually beginning January 1, 2022 and we 
will provide the Client with an updated schedule prior to any hourly rates increases. Note that any 
changes to our Hourly Fee Schedule will not affect any of our lump sum and/or not-to-exceed fees 
stated herein. 

 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding our proposed Scope of Work and/or proposed fee 
schedule, please contact me.  I would welcome the opportunity to discuss this with you.  If the Scope of 
Services is acceptable, please sign, date, and return one (1) copy to us for our files.  Once approved, C&S 
can begin work on this project immediately. 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 11 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Sincerely, 
 
 
Tom H. Sloope, P.E. 
 
THS:rkd 
 
cc:  Charlie Tucker  
 Stephen Rakestraw 
 Jared Wozny 
 Arin Howell 
 Gabe Morris 
 Connie Persall  

File 
 
Client Acceptance, Initial as desired: 
 
 

Preliminary Engineering/ Funding Assistance, Task 1 
 

Engineering Design, Permitting Assistance, Task 2-3 
 

Bidding, Task 4 
 

Construction Contract Administration, Task 5 
 

Construction Observation, Easement Sketches, Property Plats, Task 6-7 
 
 
I hereby acknowledge review of this Scope of Services and authorize Carter & Sloope, Inc. to proceed 
with the work as desired above and defined in this agreement. 
 
             
Signature      Date 
 
Chairman       
Title  



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 12 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Client herby accepts the following general terms and conditions (“Terms and Conditions”) applicable to Carter & 
Sloope, Inc.’s performance of the services described in the attached Proposal (the “Services”): 
 
1. Method and Terms of Payment:  Invoices will be submitted by Carter & Sloope, Inc. (“Carter & Sloope”, “C&S”, or 

“Engineer”) monthly in proportion to services performed and are due upon receipt.  Any amounts not paid by the Client 
within thirty (30) days of the date of such invoices shall be considered past due and shall accrue interest at a rate of one-
and-one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the maximum allowed by law, whichever is less, of the past due amount per 
month until such time as such amounts are paid in full.  Payment thereafter shall first be applied to accrued interest and 
then the unpaid principal. If the Client fails to make payment to the Engineer in accordance with the payment terms 
herein, this shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and the Engineer shall have the right, upon seven (7) 
days written notice, to suspend performance of all or part of the Services in accordance with Paragraph 2 “Suspension” 
until 1.) all past due amounts are paid, and 2.) satisfactory assurance of prompt future payment is received by the 
Engineer. The above right is in addition to all other rights and remedies Engineer may have at law or in equity including 
termination of this Agreement by the Engineer for cause in accordance with Paragraph 3 “Termination” herein. 
 

A. Collection Costs: If the Client fails to make payments when due and the Engineer incurs any costs in order to 
collect overdue sums from the Client, the Client agrees that all such collection costs incurred shall immediately 
become due and payable to the Engineer. Collection costs shall include, without limitation, legal fees, 
collection agency fees and expenses, court costs, collection bonds and reasonable Engineer staff costs at 
standard billing rates for the Engineer’s time spent in efforts to collect. This obligation of the Client to pay the 
Engineer’s collection costs shall survive the term of this Agreement or any earlier termination by either party. 

 
B. Set-offs, Backcharges, Discounts: Payment of invoices shall not be subject to any discounts or set-offs by the Client 

unless agreed to in writing by the Engineer. Payment to the Engineer for services rendered and expenses 
incurred shall be due and payable regardless of any subsequent suspension or termination of this Agreement 
by either party. 

 
C. Disputed Invoices: If the Client objects to any portion of an invoice, the Client shall so notify the Engineer in 

writing within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the invoice. The Client shall identify in writing the specific 
cause of the disagreement and the amount in dispute and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute 
in accordance with the other payment terms of this Agreement. Any dispute over invoiced amounts due which 
cannot be resolved within ten (10) calendar days after presentation of invoice by direct negotiation between 
the parties shall be resolved within thirty (30) calendar days in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
provision of this Agreement. Interest as stated above shall be paid by the Client on all disputed invoice amounts 
that are subsequently resolved in the Engineer’s favor and shall be calculated on the unpaid balance from the 
date of the invoice. 

 
D. Legislative Action: If after the Effective Date of this Agreement, any governmental entity takes legislative action 

that imposes taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 
Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a factor of 1.0 
shall be applied. Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new taxes, fees and charges in 
addition to the compensation agreed to herein. 

 
2. Suspension: The Client may suspend all or part of the Project for up to ninety (90) days upon seven (7) days written 

notice to the Engineer.  The Engineer may, after giving seven (7) days written notice to the Client, suspend services 
under this Agreement if Engineer’s performance has been substantially delayed through no fault of the Engineer. In the 
event the Project is suspended for period(s) totaling more than ninety (90) days, Client agrees to pay reasonable costs 
incurred by the Engineer in: 1.) preserving and documenting services performed or in progress, and 2.) demobilizing 
and remobilizing services. The Engineer shall have no liability whatsoever to the Client for any costs or damages as a 
result of such suspension caused by any breach of this Agreement by the Client. Suspended projects may change in 
many ways due to the passage of time, changes in the size or environment, regulatory modifications, or other issues 
outside of Engineer’s control. Engineer is not and shall not be responsible for any such changes, except to the 
responsibility or otherwise becomes aware of such issues and the Engineer may rely on information received from the 
Client or others regarding such issues. Upon payment in full by the Client, the Engineer shall resume services under this 
Agreement; however, a reassessment of the project scope, fee, and project schedule may be performed by the Engineer 
as an Additional Service. Upon the conclusion of the project reassessment, the time schedule and Engineer’s 
compensation shall be equitably adjusted to compensate for the period of suspension plus any reasonable time and 
expense necessary for the Engineer to resume performance. 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 13 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

3. Termination:  In the event of termination of this Agreement by either party, the Client shall, within fifteen (15) calendar 
days of termination, pay the Engineer for the services rendered and fees provided in the invoice and all reimbursable expenses 
incurred by the Engineer, its agents and subcontractors up to the termination date in accordance with the payment provisions 
of this Agreement. In the event of any termination that is not the fault of the Engineer, the Client shall pay the Engineer, 
in addition to payment for services rendered and reimbursable costs incurred, for all expenses reasonably incurred by 
the Engineer in connection with the orderly termination of this Agreement, including but not limited to demobilization, 
to complete tasks whose value would otherwise be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and uncompleted 
tasks, to assemble Project Materials in orderly files, reassignment of personnel, associated overhead costs and all other 
expenses directly resulting from the termination. 

 
The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated as follows: 
 
A. For Cause:  Either party may terminate the Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than thirty (30) 

days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement and through no fault of the terminating party. 
 
1. Assignment of this Agreement or transfer of the Project by either party to any other entity without prior written 

consent of the other party; or 
2. If, through any cause, the Engineer shall fail to fulfill in timely and proper manner any material obligations 

under this Agreement, or if the Engineer shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this 
Agreement, the Client shall thereupon give written notice to the Engineer of such failure, violation or breach.  
If Engineer has not or cannot remedy such failure, violation or breach within thirty (30) days of the giving of 
such notice by the Client, the Client shall thereupon have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving 
written notice to the Engineer of such termination and specifying the effective date thereof, at least ten (10) 
days before the effective date of such termination.  In such event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, 
studies, surveys, drawings, maps, models, photographs and reports prepared by the Engineer under this 
Agreement shall, at the option of the Client subject to the requirements in Paragraph 11 herein, become its 
property and the Engineer shall be paid within fifteen (15) calendar days of termination for all services 
rendered and all reimbursable expenses incurred by the Engineer up to date of termination.  Engineer shall 
have no liability to Client on account of such termination. 

3. Suspension of the Project or the Engineer’s services by the Client for more than ninety (90) calendar days, 
consecutive or in the aggregate; or  

4. If Client demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as licensed 
professional; or 

5. Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into, the Scope of Services or the 
nature of the Project, and the failure of the parties to reach agreement on the compensation and schedule 
adjustment necessitated by such changes. 
 

B. For Convenience: Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for convenience and without 
cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.  

 
4. Changes.  The Engineer’s commitment as set forth in this Agreement is based on the expectation that all of the services 

described in this Agreement will be provided. The Client may, from time to time, request changes in the scope of the services 
of the Engineer to be performed hereunder.  In the event the Client elects to reduce the Engineer’s Scope of Services, the 
Client hereby agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and indemnify the Engineer from any and all claims, damages, losses 
or costs associated with or arising out of such reduction in services.  Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the 
amount of the Engineer's compensation, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the Client and the Engineer, shall 
be incorporated in written amendments to this Contract. 

 
5. Personnel: The Engineer represents that he has, or will secure at his own expense, the personnel required in performing 

the services under this Agreement.  Such personnel shall not be employees of or have any contractual relationship with 
the Client.  All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Engineer or his sub-consultants under his 
supervision and personnel engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under State 
and Local Law to perform such services. 

 
6. Reports and Information.  The Engineer, at such times and in such forms as the Client may require, shall furnish the 

Client such periodic reports as it may request pertaining to the work or services undertaken pursuant to this Agreement, 
the costs and obligations incurred or to be incurred in connection therewith, and any other matters covered by this 
Agreement. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 14 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

7. Certifications.  As used herein and throughout this Agreement, the words “certify” and/or “certification” shall mean an 
expression of the Engineering Consultant’s professional opinion to the best of its information, knowledge and belief, and 
therefore does not constitute a warranty or guarantee by the Engineer. 

 
8. Records and Audits.  The Engineer shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property and financial 

records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Agreement.  These records will be made available 
for audit purposes to the Client or any authorized representative, and will be retained for three years after, the expiration 
of this Contract unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Client. 

 
9. Findings Confidential.  All of the reports, information, data, etc., prepared or assembled by the Engineer under this 

Agreement are confidential and the Engineer agrees that they shall not be made available to any individual or 
organization without the prior written approval of the Client unless required by law, court order, or for use in connection 
with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation, or arbitration. 

 
10. Standard of Care, Disclaimer of Warranties. Engineer will strive to perform Services under this Agreement in a manner 

consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the 
same locality under similar conditions.  NO OTHER REPRESENTATION AND NO WARRANTY OR 
GUARANTEE, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS INCLUDED OR INTENDED BY THIS AGREEMENT.  
 

11. Ownership of Documents & Copyright.  All documents, including electronic files, prepared or furnished by Engineer 
are instruments of service, and Engineer retains all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, ownership and 
property interest (including the copyright and the right of reuse) in such documents, whether or not the Project is 
completed.  The Client may make and retain copies of them for information and reference in connection with the use 
of the Project; however, such copies are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by others, and may not be 
used by others unless otherwise required by law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative 
proceedings, mediation, or arbitration.  The Client agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s 
documents without first obtaining Engineer's prior written consent.  The Client may request and negotiate with the 
Engineer to acquire ownership of the documents for a mutually agreed amount.  If Client acquires ownership of 
Documents prepared by Engineer, Client agrees: 1.) that any subsequent reuse or modification of them by Client or any 
party obtaining them through Client will be at Client’s sole risk and without liability to engineer, and 2.) Client will 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any claims, damages, and liabilities arising from or 
related to any use, reuse or modification of Documents by Client or any party obtaining them through Client.  Client 
agrees that Engineer may retain copies of all documents for its files.  Electronic communications and CADD data 
transferred by Email, websites or computer disks (collectively “E-Data”) are provided only as an accommodation by 
Engineer for the benefit of Client.  Signed paper prints of documents constitute the contract deliverables. Client assumes 
the risk that E-Data may differ from the paper deliverable.  Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from 
and against Client, damages, and liabilities for defects or inappropriate use of E-Data created or transmitted by Engineer. 
 

12. Third-Party Beneficiaries and Reliance Upon Documents. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a 
contractual relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third-party against either the Client or the Engineer. 
Engineer’s performance of the Services, as set forth in this Agreement, is intended solely and exclusively for the Client’s 
benefit and use.  No party may claim under this Agreement as a third-party beneficiary, unless otherwise required by 
law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation or arbitration.  Client 
agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s Documents, without first obtaining Engineer’s 
prior written consent.  No third-party may rely upon Engineer’s documents or the performance or non-performance of 
services unless Engineer has agreed to such reliance in advance and in writing. The Client and Engineer agree to require 
a similar provision in all contracts with contractors, subcontractors, sub consultants, vendors and other entities involved 
in this Project to carry out the intent of this provision. 

 
13. Compliance with Local Laws.  The Engineer shall exercise usual and customary professional care in its effort to comply 

with applicable laws, codes and regulations as of the date of the execution of this Agreement.  Design changes made 
necessary by newly enacted laws, codes and regulations after this date shall entitle the Engineer to a reasonable 
adjustment in the schedule and additional compensation in accordance with the Additional Services provisions of this 
Agreement.    

 
14. Public Responsibility. Both the Client and the Engineer owe a duty of care to the public that requires them to conform 

to applicable codes, standards, regulations and ordinances, principally to protect the public health and safety. The Client 
shall make no request of the Engineer that, in the Engineer’s reasonable opinion, would be contrary to the Engineer’s 
professional responsibilities to protect the public. The Client shall take all actions and render all reports required of the 
Client in a timely manner. Should the Client fail to take any required actions or render any required notices to 
appropriate public authorities in a timely manner, the Client agrees that the Engineer has the right to exercise its 
professional judgment in reporting to appropriate public officials or taking other necessary action. The Client agrees to 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 15 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

take no action against or attempt to hold the Engineer liable in any way for carrying out what the Engineer reasonably 
believes to be its public responsibility. Furthermore, the Client agrees the Engineer shall not be held liable in any respect 
for reporting said conditions. Accordingly, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and sub-consultants (collectively, Engineer) against all 
damages, liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with the Engineer’s notifying or failing to notify 
appropriate public officials. 
 

15. Accessibility.  It is recognized that the Client has certain obligations under local, state and Federal accessibility laws 
and regulations that could affect the design of the Project. It is further recognized that Federal accessibility laws and 
regulations are not part of, or necessarily compatible with, State or local laws, codes and regulations governing 
construction. Consequently, the Engineer will be unable to make recommendations or professional determinations that 
will ensure compliance with the Federal accessibility laws and regulations, and the Engineer shall, accordingly, not have 
any liability to the Client in connection with the same. The Engineer strongly advises the Client to obtain appropriate 
legal and financial counsel with respect to compliance with the appropriate disability access laws. The Engineer will 
endeavor to design for accessibility by persons with disabilities in conformance with the provisions and references in 
applicable State or local building codes and the technical design requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) and/or the Fair Housing Act (FHA) in effect as of the date of completion of the design to the extent those 
statutes apply to the Project. The Client will determine the full extent of its obligations under the ADA and Fair Housing 
Act Amendments (FHAA), including whether the ADA and/or the FHAA apply to the Project, the extent that 
modifications are readily achievable under the ADA, and the extent that modifications to improve disability access are 
necessary during an alteration and provide the Engineer with such information. The Client acknowledges that it has 
been advised by the Engineer to retain a consultant (Accessibility Consultant) to review the project plans, specifications, 
and construction for compliance with the Americans with Disability Act, the Fair Housing Act, and other Federal, state, 
and local accessibility laws, rules, codes, ordinances, and regulations (hereinafter referred to as “Accessibility Issues”). 
If Client fails to retain an Accessibility Consultant, the Client agrees to release defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 
Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, Engineer) from any claim, damages, 
liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with Accessibility Issues.  
 

16. Specification of Materials. The Client understands and agrees that products or building materials that are permissible 
under current building codes and ordinances may, at some future date, be banned or limited in use in the construction 
industry because of presently unknown hazardous and/or defective characteristics. The Engineer is only expected to 
meet current industry standards and may rely on manufacturers’ information and representations. The Client agrees 
that if any product or material specified for this Project by the Engineer shall, at any future date be suspected or 
discovered to be defective or a health or safety hazard, then the Client shall waive all claims as a result thereof against 
the Engineer. The Client further agrees that if the Client directs the Engineer to specify any product or material after the 
Engineer has informed the Client that such product or material may not be suitable or may embody characteristics that 
are suspected of causing or may cause the product or material to be considered a hazardous substance in the future, the 
Client waives all claims as a result thereof against the Engineer, and the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Engineer from any damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and defense costs, arising in any way from the specification or use of any products or materials which, at any future 
date, become known or suspected health or safety hazards 
 

17. Opinions or Estimates of Costs. If included in the Services, the Engineer will provide preliminary opinions of probable 
costs of materials, installation, remediation or construction and/or total project costs based on the Engineer’s experience 
on similar projects, which are not intended for Client’s or others’ use in developing firm budgets or financial models, or 
making investment decisions. Client agrees that any opinion of cost is still merely an estimate. 

 
18. Limit of Liability.  The inclusion of this Limitation of Liability provision is a material consideration for the Engineer’s 

willingness to perform the services.  In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the Project to both the Client and 
the Engineer, the risks have been allocated such that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Engineer: 
1.) waive against each other, and the other’s employees, owners, partners, officers, directors, shareholders, agents, 
insurers, and sub-consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, indirect, or consequential 
damages of any nature whatsoever or claims expenses from any cause or causes, including attorney’s fees and costs and 
expert-witness fees and costs arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the Project; and 2.) agree that 
Engineer’s total aggregate liability to Client under this Agreement shall be limited to the total amount of 
compensation received by Engineer on this Project or $50,000, whichever is greater. In no event shall the limit exceed 
the insurance amount.  This limitation shall apply to any and all liability regardless of the cause of action or legal theory 
placed or asserted unless otherwise prohibited by law.  Upon Client’s request, Engineer may negotiate an increase to 
this limitation in exchange for an additional agreed consideration for the increased limit.  Client and Engineer agree to 
limit liability to the other in the following respects to the fullest extent permitted by law:  Neither party will have liability 
to the other for any specials, indirect or consequential, incidental, exemplary, or penal losses or damages including, but 
not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation, unavailability of the other 



Honorable Bill Slaughter   February 16, 2021 
Page 16 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

party’s property or facility, shutdowns or service interruptions, and any other consequential damages or claims related 
to the Project that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach 
of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty.  Both the Client and the Engineer shall require similar waivers of 
consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others 
involved in this Project.   
 

19. Insurance.  Throughout the term of this Agreement, Engineer shall maintain insurance in amounts not less than shown: 
a) Worker’s Compensation Statutory amount where services are performed 
b) Automobile   $1,000,000 combined single limit 
c) General Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence / $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
d) Professional Liability  $1,000,000 per claim and aggregate 
e) Excess Umbrella  $5,000,000 on “b” & “c” 

 
Client agrees to require all third parties engaged by or through Client in connection with the Project to provide Engineer 
with current Certificates of Insurance Endorsed to include Engineer as an additional insured on their “b”, “c” and “e” 
policies of insurance and authorizes Engineer to enforce this provision directly with all Project related third parties. 

 
20. Indemnification.   

 
A. Indemnification of Client:  Subject to the provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Engineer agrees to 

indemnify and hold harmless Client, its shareholders, officers, directors and employees from and against any 
and all liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorney’s fees) or other losses 
(collectively “Losses”) to the extent caused by Engineer’s negligent performance of its Services under this 
Agreement.  
 

B. Indemnification of Engineer:  To the extent allowed to a municipality by Georgia law and subject to the 
provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Client agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer 
from and against any and all claims by third parties related to services provided by Engineer under this 
Agreement, and against any and all Losses to the extent caused by the negligence of Client, its employees, 
agents and contractors.  In addition, except to the extent caused by Engineer’s sole negligence, Client expressly 
agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any and all Losses arising from or 
related to the existence, disposal, release, discharge, treatment or transportation of Hazardous Materials, or 
the exposure of any person to Hazardous Materials, or the degradation of the environment due to the presence, 
discharge, disposal, release of or exposure to Hazardous Material. 

 
21. Dispute Resolution.  Claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy between Engineer and Client caused by or any 

way related to this Agreement will be submitted to non-binding mediation as a condition precedent to litigation. The 
Client and the Engineer further agree to include a similar mediation performed with rules as established by The 
American Arbitration Association provision in all agreements with independent contractors and consultants retained 
for the Project and to require all independent contractors and consultants also to include a similar mediation provision 
in all agreements with their subcontractors, subconsultants, suppliers and fabricators, thereby providing for mediation 
as the primary method for dispute resolution among the parties to all those agreements.  The cost for mediation including 
the mediator’s fees, reproduction of documents, and miscellaneous out-of-pocket expenses will be borne equally by each 
party to this Agreement.  The laws of the State of Georgia will govern the validity of these terms, their interpretation 
and performance.  Client and Engineer agree that venue for any litigation will be in the courts of the State of Georgia 
and Engineer and Client both hereby waive any right to initiate any action in or remove any action to, any other 
jurisdiction. 
 

22. Severability. This agreement reflects the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its terms and supersedes all prior 
agreements, whether written or oral.  If any portion of this Agreement is void or voidable, such portion will be deemed 
stricken and the Agreement reformed to as closely approximate the stricken portions as the law allows. 
 



  

6310 Peake Road ♦ Macon, Georgia 31210 ♦ 478.477.3923 tel  ♦ 478.477.4691 fax 
 

February 16, 2021 
 

 
Honorable Bill Slaughter, Chairman 
Lowndes County Board of Commissioners 
327 N. Ashley Street 
3rd Floor 
Valdosta, GA 31601 
 
 
RE: Lowndes County, Georgia  

Letter Agreement- OPB-ARPA Award 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvements (Phase 1 and 2) 
C&S File No.: L8400.069 (Invoice File) 

 
 
Dear Chairman Slaughter: 
  

Carter & Sloope, Inc. (C&S or Engineer) is pleased to submit this Proposal/Scope of Services letter 
for the above referenced project to provide engineering services to the Lowndes County Board of 
Commissioners (Client or Owner) for preliminary engineering, assistance with funding 
applications, engineering design, permitting and bidding assistance, and construction phase 
services including general administration of construction contract for the proposed Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Improvements (Phase 1 and 2) Project. The scope of services described below is 
based on our understanding of the project from discussions and emails with the County throughout 
the past several years. 

 
Scope of Work (Basic Services) 
 
1. Preliminary Engineering / Funding Assistance 

 
C&S will meet with the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners to discuss and define the scope 
and boundaries of the project. Other preliminary work may include developing conceptual plans 
and preliminary opinions of probable project costs and all work prior to developing the scope of 
work. C&S will advise the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners of any need for them to 
provide data or services which are not part of Engineer’s Basic Services. 
 
Our understanding of the Scope of Work includes the following:  
 

The primary scope of the project at the LAS would include modifications to the treatment 
process and the expansion of the existing sprayfields. Treatment modifications will be 
implemented by either retrofitting existing structures or constructing new structures to improve 
nitrogen removal and BOD removal. To achieve the expansion of the LAS, additional fields 
will be constructed with sprinklers that will apply treated wastewater for discharge. These 
fields will be planted with Bermuda grass (summer) and Ryegrass (winter) to maintain 
continual uptake of the treated wastewater. To supply the treated wastewater to this fields, the 
existing force main must be extended to provide the effluent. Also, a new pump must be added 
at the existing irrigation pump station to promote consistent pumping to all the fields at the 
LAS. The current permit limit for the LAS is set at 2.0 MGD of flow. The expansion will 
allow the LAS to ultimately treat 3.0 MGD of flow, giving the permit ample room to meet the 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 2 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

needs of the growing population of residents and businesses in the County. The goal of this 
design is to expand the current plant and increase its permitted capacity. 

 
C&S will assist the County and grant administrator in preparing the application for OPB-ARPA 
(American Rescue Plan Act) funding to accomplish the project scope described above. At a minimum 
cost estimate, project schedules, and a project narrative will be developed by C&S for usage in the 
application. Once funded, C&S will continue to work with the grant administrator in completing the 
requirements necessary for a successful completion of the project. This includes any special conditions 
or special requirements of the OPB-ARPA grant program. 
 

2. Engineering Design 
 
C&S will furnish a 2-person survey crew to survey the project areas.  Field-run linear and topographic 
surveying will generate 2 ft. contour data of the project area tied to the Georgia State Plane Coordinate 
System using NAVD-88 elevation datum and it will locate the existing features including any above 
ground utilities or below ground utilities that are marked by the utility owner.  We will not conduct 
any boundary surveys unless requested by the Client as an Additional Service or unless included as 
part of our Basic Services for providing Easement sketches. Prior to beginning surveying, we will 
contact the Utilities Protection Center and request a design locate.  It has been our experience that 
most non-municipal utility owners like the phone, power and cable companies, do not respond or 
respond very slowly to design locate requests so it has been our experience that local knowledge from 
Client’s personnel is extremely valuable; therefore, we will work closely with the Client in identifying 
areas of potential conflict.  C&S will not conduct any subsurface investigations or subsurface utility 
engineering (SUE) to locate existing utilities or determine elevations of subsurface utilities unless 
requested by the Client as an Additional Service. 
 
After the linear and topographic surveying is completed, C&S will prepare preliminary design 
documents for the proposed project within 4 months.  At approximately 60% completion, we will 
meet with Client’s personnel to present the preliminary design for review.  Within 2 months after 
receipt, we will address any comments the Client has with the preliminary design and then prepare 
and furnish detailed final design Drawings and Specifications in a 16-division format (100% complete) 
indicating the scope, extent and character of the work to be performed and furnished by the 
Contractor during the construction of the project.  We will submit the 100% complete Drawings and 
Specifications to the Client for their review and approval and we will review any comments and 
recommendations and incorporate needed changes in the final design 100% complete Documents, 
which will include detailed construction plans and technical specifications of the following general 
items: 

a. Civil engineering design including site work, yard piping, valves, hydraulic design and soil 
erosion and sediment control 

b. Electrical engineering design including power, instrumentation and control and SCADA 
design.  

c. Structural engineering necessary to design structural components of project; including 
foundations and concrete wall sections.  

d. Geotechnical engineering to determine soil permeability and suitability of area for wastewater 
discharge.  

Contemporaneous with the presentation of each design, C&S will provide the Client with a 
Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost and Total Project Costs known to the Engineer 
for both the preliminary design (60% complete) and final designs (100% complete).  This preliminary 
cost estimate will itemize the quantities and anticipated unit prices for each component needed for 
the project. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 3 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

C&S will also provide the Client with one (1) full-size set of final design documents (100% complete) 
plus digital copies in Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format.  All other documents, including calculations, 
estimates, etc., will be submitted in their native format. 
 

3. Permitting Assistance 
 
After the final design documents are approved by the Client, C&S will provide technical criteria, 
written descriptions, and design data to assist the Client in obtaining permits required for the 
project with the understanding that it is the Client’s sole responsibility to secure permits and pay 
all necessary permit fees.  We will complete the necessary permit applications and submit the 
required copies of the final construction drawings and technical specifications to the appropriate 
review agencies for approval of the necessary permits to construct the project.  We will also assist 
the Client in consultations with such agencies and revise the Drawings and Specifications and 
permit applications in response to directives from such agencies, if necessary.  We anticipate 
submitting the following: 

 
a. Permit to increase capacity of South Lowndes LAS permit for increased loading. 
b. Land Disturbing Permit Application to the Local Issuing Authority, which is Lowndes 

County; 
c. Wastewater Project Submittal to submit to the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 

Environmental Protection Division (EPD); 
 

Note that we will provide information to the Contractor to submit the NPDES Permit Application 
for Temporary Stormwater Discharge Associated from Construction Activity for Infrastructure Construction 
Projects (GAR 100002) and the Notice of Intent to EPD through the GEOS system. 

 
4. Bidding 
 

C&S will assist the Client in advertising and obtaining competitive and qualified bids for the 
project in accordance with local and State law.  The advertisement period shall last a minimum of 
30 days and the Client will pay all necessary advertising fees.  C&S will provide the Client with 
the necessary Bidding Documents, which will include one (1) full-size hard copy set of final design 
Drawings and Specifications to be kept on file during the advertisement period.  The client may 
place a copy of the Advertisement for Bids (Section 00100) on their website during the 
advertisement period, however, electronic copies of the entire set of Bidding Documents shall not 
be placed on the Client’s website, FTP site or other electronic platform during Bidding for 
download by bidders or any third party without the Engineer’s consent and approval.   
 
C&S will maintain a record of prospective bidders to whom Bidding Documents have been issued 
and receive and process nominal fees or charges from bidders to compensate the Engineer for costs 
associated with printing, reproduction and shipping the Bidding Documents to bidders.  We will 
respond to Requests for Information (RFIs) and issue Addenda as appropriate to clarify, correct, 
or change the Bidding Documents.  We will also consult with the Client and participate in all 
decisions as to the acceptability of substitute materials, subcontractors, suppliers, and other 
individuals and entities proposed by prospective contractors for those portions of the project as to 
which such acceptability is required by the Bidding Documents.  
 
C&S will attend and manage the Bid Opening, review bids, and prepare a Certified Bid 
Tabulation.  We will provide a Letter of Recommendation to the Client regarding award of the 
contract as appropriate and assist in assembling and executing the contracts for the Project.   
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 4 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

C&S will prepare the Notice of Award and Contract Documents and forward them to the selected 
Contractor for execution.  We will receive the executed contracts, bonds and insurance documents 
from the contractor and forward them to the Client for their review and approval.   

 
 
5. Construction Contract Administration 

 
Management of construction efforts (i.e. “construction management” services) are specifically 
excluded from our Scope of Work; however, if the Client authorizes us to proceed, C&S will 
provide professional services in the general administration of the construction contract and act as 
the Client’s representative during construction to the extent and limitations of the duties, 
responsibilities and authority of the Engineer as established in this written Agreement and in the 
Contract Documents. For the purposes of this Agreement, we are assuming the contract period 
will be 180 calendar days (or 6-months).  After the contracts have been executed by all parties, 
C&S will complete, with reasonable promptness, the following tasks as needed during 
construction of the project: 

 
a. Pre-Construction Conference: Attend and lead one (1) pre-construction conference that will be 

hosted by the Client at their office and issue a Notice to Proceed to the selected Contractor. 
 
b. Baselines and Benchmarks:  As appropriate, establish baselines and benchmarks for locating the 

Work which, in the Engineer’s judgment, are necessary to enable the Contractor to proceed. 
 
c. Clarifications and Interpretations (Field Orders): Respond in writing with reasonable promptness 

to Requests for Information (RFI’s) and issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of 
the Contract Documents as appropriate to the orderly completion of Contractor’s work.  Such 
clarifications and interpretations will be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable 
from the Contract Documents and shall be provided as part of the Engineer’s Scope of 
Services; however, if the Contractor’s request for information, clarification, or interpretation 
are, in the Engineer’s professional opinion, for information readily apparent from reasonable 
observation of field conditions or a review of the Contract Documents, or are reasonably 
inferable there from, the Engineer shall be entitled to compensation for Additional Services 
for the Engineer’s time spent responding to such request provided the Engineer notify Client 
in advance that it deems such request to be so apparent, seek compensation for such 
clarification and interpretation and Client does not timely instruct the Engineer not to 
undertake the clarification or interpretation.  Should the Client agree to reimburse the 
Engineer for these Additional Services, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the 
Client that will deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the 
Contractor. 

 
d. Change Orders:  Review and recommend Change Order justifications and prepare change orders 

to modify the Contract Documents as may be necessary. 
 
e. Shop Drawings and Samples:  Review and approve or take other appropriate action in respect to 

Shop Drawings and Samples and other data which Contractor is required to submit, but only 
for general conformance with the information given in the Contract Documents and 
compatibility with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents.  Such reviews and approvals or other action will not 
extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto. 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 5 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

 
f. Schedules:  Review and determine the acceptability of schedules which the Contractor is 

required to develop and submit to Engineer, including the Progress Schedule, Schedule of 
Submittals, and Schedule of Values.  Since C&S will have no control over any Contractor’s 
schedule or work progress, we cannot develop and control the construction schedule beyond 
establishing the contract time and establishing liquidated damages if the Contractor does not 
obtain substantial completion within the required contract time.  

 
g. Substitutes and “or equal”:  Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or “or-equal” 

materials and equipment proposed by the Contractor, but subject to the provisions outlined in 
Additional Services. 

 
h. Progress Meetings: C&S will attend progress meetings at the jobsite as needed, but at a 

minimum, monthly.  We will prepare meeting agendas, lead the progress meetings and issue 
meeting minutes for review and approval by the Client and Contractor. 

 
i. Applications for Payments:  Based on Engineer’s observations as an experienced and qualified 

professional and on review of Applications for Payment and accompanying supporting 
documentation: 
 
1) Determine the amount that Engineer recommends Contractor be paid.  Such 

recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute Engineer’s 
representation to Client, based on such observations and review, that, to the best of 
Engineer’s reasonable knowledge, information and belief, Contractor’s Work has 
progressed to the point indicated, the quality of such Work is generally in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract 
Documents, and being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it 
is Engineer’s responsibility to observe Contractor’s Work.  In the case of unit price work, 
Engineer’s recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities and 
classifications of Contractor’s Work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the 
Contract Documents). 

2) By recommending any payment to the Contractor, Engineer shall not thereby be deemed 
to have represented that observations made by Engineer to check the quality or quantity of 
Contractor’s Work as it is performed and furnished have been exhaustive, extended to every 
aspect of Contractor’s Work in progress, or involved detailed or special inspections of the 
Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement. 
Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment including final payment will 
impose on Engineer responsibility to supervise, direct, or control Contractor’s Work in 
progress or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction 
or safety precautions or programs incident thereto, or Contractor’s compliance with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s furnishing and performing the Work beyond the 
responsibilities specifically assigned to the Engineer in this Agreement.  It will also not 
impose responsibility on Engineer to make any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or to 
determine that title to any portion of the Work in progress, materials, or equipment has 
passed to Client free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, or 
that there may not be other matters at issue between Client and Contractor that might affect 
the amount that should be paid. 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 6 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

j. Record Drawings:  Prepare and furnish the Client one (1) set of reproducible and one (1) 
electronic copy in Adobe Acrobat PDF format of the Project Record Drawings showing 
appropriate record information that is annotated and furnished to us by the Contractor in 
accordance with the Contract Documents after construction is complete.    

 
k. Contractor’s Completion Documents: Receive from the Contractor and transmit to the Client 

operating and maintenance manuals, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other 
evidence of insurance required by the Contract Documents, certificates of inspection, tests and 
approvals, Shop Drawings, Samples and other data, including the annotated Record 
Documents and Record Drawings which are to be assembled by Contractor and furnished to 
us. 

 
l. Substantial Completion:  After receiving notice from Contractor that they consider the entire 

Work complete and ready for its intended use, we will conduct one (1) pre-final observation 
in company with the Client and Contractor to observe the Contractor’s work to determine if, 
based on the Engineer’s professional opinion and belief and based only on information 
available at the time of pre-final on-site observation, the Work is substantially complete.  If we 
do not consider the Work substantially complete, we will notify the Contractor in writing 
giving reasons therefore.  If, after considering any objections of Client, Engineer considers the 
Work substantially complete, Engineer shall deliver a certificate of Substantial Completion to 
Client and Contractor in accordance with the provisions in the Contract Documents.  
Attached to the certificate will be a punch-list of items that, in the Engineer’s professional 
opinion, knowledge and belief, are deficient and must be completed or corrected before we 
recommend final payment be made to the Contractor by the Client.  The certificate of 
Substantial Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional 
opinion and therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.   

 
m. Final Notice of Acceptability of the Work:  After receiving notice from the Contractor that the 

punch-list items are completed, we will conduct one (1) final on-site observation in company 
with Client and the Contractor to determine if the completed Work of Contractor is acceptable 
in the Engineer’s professional opinion, reasonable knowledge and belief and based only on 
information available at the time of final on-site observation and to the extent of the services 
provided by Engineer under this Agreement, so that Engineer may recommend, in writing, 
final payment to Contractor.  We will notify the Contractor and the Client in writing of any 
particulars in which the final observation reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. 

 
n. Project Completion Statement: EPD will require a statement from the Engineer of Record that 

the project has been completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and 
that the Contractor has satisfactorily completed the project.  Therefore, after we conduct the 
final on-site observation, we will, upon determining that in the Engineer’s professional opinion 
and belief and based only on information available at the time of final on-site observation, 
furnish a letter to EPD and one (1) copy to the Client that the Project is completed in 
accordance with EPD’s approved Drawings and Specifications.  The Statement of Project 
Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional opinion and 
therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.  The statement of project 
completion will be for the sole use of the Client and the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources, Environmental Protection Division and cannot be used or relied upon by any third 
party without the expressed written permission from C&S. 

 
o. Limitation of Responsibilities:  Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any 

Contractor, or of any subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 7 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

furnishing any portions of the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer 
shall not be responsible for the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 

 
6. Construction Observation 

 
If the Client does not authorize C&S to provide onsite construction observations services, then it 
is understood that the Engineer’s Scope of Services under this Agreement does not include 
construction phase services including, but not limited to, general administration of the 
construction contract, acting as the Client’s representative during construction,  and/or providing 
onsite project/construction observation or review of the Contractor’s performance or any other 
construction phase services, and that such services will be provided for by the Client. The Client 
assumes all responsibility for interpretation of the Contract Documents and for construction 
observation and the Client waives any claims against the Engineer that may be in any way 
connected thereto. 
 
In addition, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, the 
Engineer) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense 
costs, arising out of or in any way connected with the performance of such services by other 
persons or entities and from any and all claims arising from modifications, clarifications, 
interpretations, adjustments or changes made to the Contract Documents to reflect changed field 
or other conditions, except for claims arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Engineer. 
 
Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, or of any 
subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any portions of 
the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer shall not be responsible for 
the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 
 
If the Client requests in writing that the Engineer provide any specific construction phase services, 
and if the Engineer agrees in writing to provide such services, then the Engineer shall be 
compensated for providing these services as an Additional Services. 

 
7. Easement Sketches/Property Plats 

 
C&S will prepare easement sketches/property plats, if needed, for temporary and/or permanent 
easements and/or property purchase.  We do not know exactly how many easements and/or plats, 
if any, will be needed because the surveying and preliminary and/or final layout of the proposed 
utility has not been completed; however, we will attempt to design the proposed utility in such a way 
as to have the least impact as possible to private property.  Therefore, we will invoice hourly for 
preparing easements sketches as shown below. 
 

8. Startup & O&M Manual 
 
If the client authorizes, C&S will provide an Engineer and/or a Class I Water Operator as 
needed to attend meetings at the jobsite to witness start-up of proposed mechanical equipment 
by the Contractor and assist the Client with Start-up and commissioning of the new facilities. 
For meetings, we will issue meeting minutes for review and approval by the Client. We will 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 8 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

also develop a new Operations and Maintenance Manual (O&M) for the proposed raw water 
pump station facilities and submit it to the Client for review and approval.  

 
 

 
Fee Basis 
 
We propose to complete our work for Basic Services described herein for the lump sum and/or hourly 
amounts as scheduled below.  Hourly amounts shall be determined in accordance with our Hourly 
Fee Schedule.    
 

Task No. Description Phase 1- 
Fee Basis 

Phase 2- 
Fee Basis 

1 Preliminary Engineering / Funding Assistance Hourly < 
$75,000 

Hourly < 
$25,000 

2 Engineering Design, Permitting Assistance $150,000 $425,000 

3 Permitting Assistance $75,000 $10,000 

4 Bidding $35,000 $50,000 

5 Construction Contract Administration                                   $50,000 $110,000 

6-7 Construction Observation, Easement Sketches, 
Property Plats 

Hourly Hourly 

8 O&M / Startup $5,000 $10,000 

 

Additional Services  
 
Services not included within the Basic Scope of Services above, which are considered Additional Services, 
are specifically excluded from the Scope of the Engineer’s services, but can be provided on an hourly basis 
in accordance with our Hourly Fee Schedule or as agreed to in writing by the Client and the Engineer.  
Additional Services include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Services resulting from significant changes in the scope, extent, or character of the portions of the 

Project designed or specified by Engineer or its design requirements including, but not limited to, 
changes in size, complexity, Client’s schedule, character of construction, or method of financing; 
and revising previously accepted reports, Drawings or Specifications, or other project related 
documents when such revisions are required by changes in Laws and regulations enacted 
subsequent to the date of this proposal or are due to any other causes beyond Engineer’s control. 

b. Services required as a result of Client providing incomplete or incorrect Project information to 
Engineer. 

c. Furnishing services of Engineer’s Sub-Consultants, if any, for other than Basic Services. 
d. Preparing for, coordinating with, participating in and responding to structured independent review 

processes, including, but not limited to construction management, cost estimating, project peer 
review, value engineering, and constructability review requested by Client; and performing or 
furnishing services required to revise studies, reports, Drawings, Specifications, or other Bidding 
Documents as a result of such review processes. 

e. Preparing additional Bidding Documents or Contract Documents for alternate bids or prices 
requested by Client for the Work or a portion thereof. 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 9 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

f. Determining the acceptability of substitute materials and equipment proposed after the Bidding 
and making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the acceptance of substitute 
materials or equipment other than “or-equal” items; and services after the award of the 
Construction Contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of a substitution which is 
found to be inappropriate for the Project or an excessive number of substitutions. 

g. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding, or renegotiating contracts for construction, 
materials, equipment, or services. 

h. Providing Construction Phase services beyond the construction Contract Times, which is 
estimated at 180 days, or man-hours listed herein. 

i. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for Client in any litigation, arbitration, or 
other dispute resolution process related to the Project.  Preparation time for deposition and trial 
testimony or arbitration will be charged at hourly rate multiplied by 1.25. Actual time for 
deposition, trial testimony or arbitration including travel time will be charged at hourly rate 
multiplied by 2.0. Reimbursable expenses will be charged at actual cost multiplied by 1.15. 

j. Providing more extensive services required to enable Engineer to issue notices or certifications 
requested by Client and not specifically provided in the Basic Services. 

k. Services in connection with Work Change Directives and Change Orders to reflect changes 
requested by Client so as to make compensation commensurate with the extent of the Additional 
Services rendered. 

l. Additional or extended services made necessary by (1) emergencies or acts of God endangering 
the Work, (2) the presence at the Site of any Hazardous Materials and/or Environmental 
Conditions (the presence of asbestos, PCBs, petroleum, hazardous substances or waste, and 
radioactive materials), (3) Work damaged by fire or other cause during construction, (4) a 
significant amount of defective, neglected, or delayed work by Contractor, (5) acceleration of the 
progress schedule involving services beyond normal working hours, or (6) default by Contractor. 

m. Reviewing Shop Drawings more than two (2) times as a result of repeated inadequate submissions 
by Contractor. In such an event, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the Client that will 
deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the Contractor. 

n. Geotechnical engineering and materials testing during construction.  The Client should contract 
directly with a geotechnical engineer for geotechnical consulting services, if needed. 

o. Archeological and Historical Preservation consulting; 
p. Delineating wetlands or flood plain determinations. 
q. U.S. Army Corps of Engineering Permitting; 
r. Providing topographic surveys or construction surveys and/or staking to enable Contractor to 

perform its work not specifically detailed in the Basic Services; and,  and any type of property or 
boundary surveys or easements or related engineering or surveying services needed for the transfer 
of interests in real property; and providing other special field surveys not specifically detailed in 
the Basic Services. 

s. Assistance with funding alternative including, but not limited to, loan/funding applications, grant 
writing, engineering reports, rates studies, etc. unless specifically included in the Basic Services; 

t. Environmental Surveys including, but not limited to, wetlands, endangered species, cultural 
resources, historic preservation resources or special sub-consultants for permits; 

u. Preparing for and participating in public meetings and/or public hearings unless specifically 
included in the Basic Services; 

v. Other services performed or furnished by Engineer not otherwise detailed or provided for in this 
Agreement. 

w. All building and permit fees and building inspection fees 
 
Hourly Fee Schedule 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 10 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Hourly rates used for Basic and/or Additional Services shall be determined by multiplying individual 
hourly rates of each class of employee by the number of hours spent performing the service. 
 

Employee Classification          Hourly Rates 
Principal IV $255 
Principal III $230 
Principal II $205 
Principal I $200 
Principal  $190 
Senior Professional Engineer V $230 
Senior Professional Engineer IV $215 
Senior Professional Engineer III $195 
Senior Professional Engineer II $180 
Senior Professional Engineer I $165 
Project Engineer VI $155 
Project Engineer V $145 
Project Engineer IV $135 
Project Engineer III $125 
Project Engineer II $115 
Project Engineer I $105 
Staff Engineer $  95 
Project Manager IX $210 
Project Manager VIII $200 
Project Manager VII $190 
Project Manager VI $180 
Project Manager V $170 
Project Manager IV $160 
Project Manager III $150 
Project Manager II $140   
Project Manager I  $130 
Funding Specialist IV $135 
Funding Specialist III $125 
Funding Specialist II $115 
Funding Specialist I $  95 
Funding Specialist $  75 
Design Technician V $120 
Design Technician IV $110 
Design Technician III $100 
Design Technician II $  90 
Design Technician I $  80 
CADD Drafter $  60 
Construction Observer VII $145 
Construction Observer VI $135  
Construction Observer V $125 
Construction Observer IV $115  
Construction Observer III $105 
Construction Observer II $  95 
Construction Observer I $  75 
Administrative Support Staff V $100 
Administrative Support Staff IV $  90 
Administrative Support Staff III $  80 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 11 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Administrative Support Staff II $  70 
Administrative Support Staff I $  60 
Registered Land Surveyor $105 
2-Person Survey Team $165 
GIS Technician $  80 
Sub-Consultants (if required) Actual Cost X 1.15 

 
C&S reserves the right to adjust the Hourly Fee Schedule annually beginning January 1, 2022 and we 
will provide the Client with an updated schedule prior to any hourly rates increases. Note that any 
changes to our Hourly Fee Schedule will not affect any of our lump sum and/or not-to-exceed fees 
stated herein. 

 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding our proposed Scope of Work and/or proposed fee 
schedule, please contact me.  I would welcome the opportunity to discuss this with you.  If the Scope of 
Services is acceptable, please sign, date, and return one (1) copy to us for our files.  Once approved, C&S 
can begin work on this project immediately. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Tom H. Sloope, P.E. 
 
THS:rkd 
 
cc:  Charlie Tucker  
 Stephen Rakestraw 
 Jared Wozny 
 Arin Howell 
 Gabe Morris 
 Connie Persall  

File 
 
Client Acceptance, Initial as desired: 
 
 

Preliminary Engineering/ Funding Assistance, Task 1 
 

Engineering Design, Task 2 
 

Permitting Assistance, Task 3 
 

Bidding, Task 4 
 

Construction Contract Administration, Task 5 
 

Construction Observation, Easement Sketches, Property Plats, Task 6-7 
 

Startup / O&M Manual, Task 8 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 12 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

 
 
I hereby acknowledge review of this Scope of Services and authorize Carter & Sloope, Inc. to proceed 
with the work as desired above and defined in this agreement. 
 
             
Signature      Date 
 
Chairman       
Title  



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 13 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Client herby accepts the following general terms and conditions (“Terms and Conditions”) applicable to Carter & 
Sloope, Inc.’s performance of the services described in the attached Proposal (the “Services”): 
 
1. Method and Terms of Payment:  Invoices will be submitted by Carter & Sloope, Inc. (“Carter & Sloope”, “C&S”, or 

“Engineer”) monthly in proportion to services performed and are due upon receipt.  Any amounts not paid by the Client 
within thirty (30) days of the date of such invoices shall be considered past due and shall accrue interest at a rate of one-
and-one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the maximum allowed by law, whichever is less, of the past due amount per 
month until such time as such amounts are paid in full.  Payment thereafter shall first be applied to accrued interest and 
then the unpaid principal. If the Client fails to make payment to the Engineer in accordance with the payment terms 
herein, this shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and the Engineer shall have the right, upon seven (7) 
days written notice, to suspend performance of all or part of the Services in accordance with Paragraph 2 “Suspension” 
until 1.) all past due amounts are paid, and 2.) satisfactory assurance of prompt future payment is received by the 
Engineer. The above right is in addition to all other rights and remedies Engineer may have at law or in equity including 
termination of this Agreement by the Engineer for cause in accordance with Paragraph 3 “Termination” herein. 
 

A. Collection Costs: If the Client fails to make payments when due and the Engineer incurs any costs in order to 
collect overdue sums from the Client, the Client agrees that all such collection costs incurred shall immediately 
become due and payable to the Engineer. Collection costs shall include, without limitation, legal fees, 
collection agency fees and expenses, court costs, collection bonds and reasonable Engineer staff costs at 
standard billing rates for the Engineer’s time spent in efforts to collect. This obligation of the Client to pay the 
Engineer’s collection costs shall survive the term of this Agreement or any earlier termination by either party. 

 
B. Set-offs, Backcharges, Discounts: Payment of invoices shall not be subject to any discounts or set-offs by the Client 

unless agreed to in writing by the Engineer. Payment to the Engineer for services rendered and expenses 
incurred shall be due and payable regardless of any subsequent suspension or termination of this Agreement 
by either party. 

 
C. Disputed Invoices: If the Client objects to any portion of an invoice, the Client shall so notify the Engineer in 

writing within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the invoice. The Client shall identify in writing the specific 
cause of the disagreement and the amount in dispute and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute 
in accordance with the other payment terms of this Agreement. Any dispute over invoiced amounts due which 
cannot be resolved within ten (10) calendar days after presentation of invoice by direct negotiation between 
the parties shall be resolved within thirty (30) calendar days in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
provision of this Agreement. Interest as stated above shall be paid by the Client on all disputed invoice amounts 
that are subsequently resolved in the Engineer’s favor and shall be calculated on the unpaid balance from the 
date of the invoice. 

 
D. Legislative Action: If after the Effective Date of this Agreement, any governmental entity takes legislative action 

that imposes taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 
Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a factor of 1.0 
shall be applied. Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new taxes, fees and charges in 
addition to the compensation agreed to herein. 

 
2. Suspension: The Client may suspend all or part of the Project for up to ninety (90) days upon seven (7) days written 

notice to the Engineer.  The Engineer may, after giving seven (7) days written notice to the Client, suspend services 
under this Agreement if Engineer’s performance has been substantially delayed through no fault of the Engineer. In the 
event the Project is suspended for period(s) totaling more than ninety (90) days, Client agrees to pay reasonable costs 
incurred by the Engineer in: 1.) preserving and documenting services performed or in progress, and 2.) demobilizing 
and remobilizing services. The Engineer shall have no liability whatsoever to the Client for any costs or damages as a 
result of such suspension caused by any breach of this Agreement by the Client. Suspended projects may change in 
many ways due to the passage of time, changes in the size or environment, regulatory modifications, or other issues 
outside of Engineer’s control. Engineer is not and shall not be responsible for any such changes, except to the 
responsibility or otherwise becomes aware of such issues and the Engineer may rely on information received from the 
Client or others regarding such issues. Upon payment in full by the Client, the Engineer shall resume services under this 
Agreement; however, a reassessment of the project scope, fee, and project schedule may be performed by the Engineer 
as an Additional Service. Upon the conclusion of the project reassessment, the time schedule and Engineer’s 
compensation shall be equitably adjusted to compensate for the period of suspension plus any reasonable time and 
expense necessary for the Engineer to resume performance. 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 14 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

3. Termination:  In the event of termination of this Agreement by either party, the Client shall, within fifteen (15) calendar 
days of termination, pay the Engineer for the services rendered and fees provided in the invoice and all reimbursable expenses 
incurred by the Engineer, its agents and subcontractors up to the termination date in accordance with the payment provisions 
of this Agreement. In the event of any termination that is not the fault of the Engineer, the Client shall pay the Engineer, 
in addition to payment for services rendered and reimbursable costs incurred, for all expenses reasonably incurred by 
the Engineer in connection with the orderly termination of this Agreement, including but not limited to demobilization, 
to complete tasks whose value would otherwise be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and uncompleted 
tasks, to assemble Project Materials in orderly files, reassignment of personnel, associated overhead costs and all other 
expenses directly resulting from the termination. 

 
The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated as follows: 
 
A. For Cause:  Either party may terminate the Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than thirty (30) 

days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement and through no fault of the terminating party. 
 
1. Assignment of this Agreement or transfer of the Project by either party to any other entity without prior written 

consent of the other party; or 
2. If, through any cause, the Engineer shall fail to fulfill in timely and proper manner any material obligations 

under this Agreement, or if the Engineer shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this 
Agreement, the Client shall thereupon give written notice to the Engineer of such failure, violation or breach.  
If Engineer has not or cannot remedy such failure, violation or breach within thirty (30) days of the giving of 
such notice by the Client, the Client shall thereupon have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving 
written notice to the Engineer of such termination and specifying the effective date thereof, at least ten (10) 
days before the effective date of such termination.  In such event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, 
studies, surveys, drawings, maps, models, photographs and reports prepared by the Engineer under this 
Agreement shall, at the option of the Client subject to the requirements in Paragraph 11 herein, become its 
property and the Engineer shall be paid within fifteen (15) calendar days of termination for all services 
rendered and all reimbursable expenses incurred by the Engineer up to date of termination.  Engineer shall 
have no liability to Client on account of such termination. 

3. Suspension of the Project or the Engineer’s services by the Client for more than ninety (90) calendar days, 
consecutive or in the aggregate; or  

4. If Client demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as licensed 
professional; or 

5. Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into, the Scope of Services or the 
nature of the Project, and the failure of the parties to reach agreement on the compensation and schedule 
adjustment necessitated by such changes. 
 

B. For Convenience: Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for convenience and without 
cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.  

 
4. Changes.  The Engineer’s commitment as set forth in this Agreement is based on the expectation that all of the services 

described in this Agreement will be provided. The Client may, from time to time, request changes in the scope of the services 
of the Engineer to be performed hereunder.  In the event the Client elects to reduce the Engineer’s Scope of Services, the 
Client hereby agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and indemnify the Engineer from any and all claims, damages, losses 
or costs associated with or arising out of such reduction in services.  Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the 
amount of the Engineer's compensation, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the Client and the Engineer, shall 
be incorporated in written amendments to this Contract. 

 
5. Personnel: The Engineer represents that he has, or will secure at his own expense, the personnel required in performing 

the services under this Agreement.  Such personnel shall not be employees of or have any contractual relationship with 
the Client.  All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Engineer or his sub-consultants under his 
supervision and personnel engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under State 
and Local Law to perform such services. 

 
6. Reports and Information.  The Engineer, at such times and in such forms as the Client may require, shall furnish the 

Client such periodic reports as it may request pertaining to the work or services undertaken pursuant to this Agreement, 
the costs and obligations incurred or to be incurred in connection therewith, and any other matters covered by this 
Agreement. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 15 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

7. Certifications.  As used herein and throughout this Agreement, the words “certify” and/or “certification” shall mean an 
expression of the Engineering Consultant’s professional opinion to the best of its information, knowledge and belief, and 
therefore does not constitute a warranty or guarantee by the Engineer. 

 
8. Records and Audits.  The Engineer shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property and financial 

records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Agreement.  These records will be made available 
for audit purposes to the Client or any authorized representative, and will be retained for three years after, the expiration 
of this Contract unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Client. 

 
9. Findings Confidential.  All of the reports, information, data, etc., prepared or assembled by the Engineer under this 

Agreement are confidential and the Engineer agrees that they shall not be made available to any individual or 
organization without the prior written approval of the Client unless required by law, court order, or for use in connection 
with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation, or arbitration. 

 
10. Standard of Care, Disclaimer of Warranties. Engineer will strive to perform Services under this Agreement in a manner 

consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the 
same locality under similar conditions.  NO OTHER REPRESENTATION AND NO WARRANTY OR 
GUARANTEE, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS INCLUDED OR INTENDED BY THIS AGREEMENT.  
 

11. Ownership of Documents & Copyright.  All documents, including electronic files, prepared or furnished by Engineer 
are instruments of service, and Engineer retains all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, ownership and 
property interest (including the copyright and the right of reuse) in such documents, whether or not the Project is 
completed.  The Client may make and retain copies of them for information and reference in connection with the use 
of the Project; however, such copies are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by others, and may not be 
used by others unless otherwise required by law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative 
proceedings, mediation, or arbitration.  The Client agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s 
documents without first obtaining Engineer's prior written consent.  The Client may request and negotiate with the 
Engineer to acquire ownership of the documents for a mutually agreed amount.  If Client acquires ownership of 
Documents prepared by Engineer, Client agrees: 1.) that any subsequent reuse or modification of them by Client or any 
party obtaining them through Client will be at Client’s sole risk and without liability to engineer, and 2.) Client will 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any claims, damages, and liabilities arising from or 
related to any use, reuse or modification of Documents by Client or any party obtaining them through Client.  Client 
agrees that Engineer may retain copies of all documents for its files.  Electronic communications and CADD data 
transferred by Email, websites or computer disks (collectively “E-Data”) are provided only as an accommodation by 
Engineer for the benefit of Client.  Signed paper prints of documents constitute the contract deliverables. Client assumes 
the risk that E-Data may differ from the paper deliverable.  Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from 
and against Client, damages, and liabilities for defects or inappropriate use of E-Data created or transmitted by Engineer. 
 

12. Third-Party Beneficiaries and Reliance Upon Documents. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a 
contractual relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third-party against either the Client or the Engineer. 
Engineer’s performance of the Services, as set forth in this Agreement, is intended solely and exclusively for the Client’s 
benefit and use.  No party may claim under this Agreement as a third-party beneficiary, unless otherwise required by 
law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation or arbitration.  Client 
agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s Documents, without first obtaining Engineer’s 
prior written consent.  No third-party may rely upon Engineer’s documents or the performance or non-performance of 
services unless Engineer has agreed to such reliance in advance and in writing. The Client and Engineer agree to require 
a similar provision in all contracts with contractors, subcontractors, sub consultants, vendors and other entities involved 
in this Project to carry out the intent of this provision. 

 
13. Compliance with Local Laws.  The Engineer shall exercise usual and customary professional care in its effort to comply 

with applicable laws, codes and regulations as of the date of the execution of this Agreement.  Design changes made 
necessary by newly enacted laws, codes and regulations after this date shall entitle the Engineer to a reasonable 
adjustment in the schedule and additional compensation in accordance with the Additional Services provisions of this 
Agreement.    

 
14. Public Responsibility. Both the Client and the Engineer owe a duty of care to the public that requires them to conform 

to applicable codes, standards, regulations and ordinances, principally to protect the public health and safety. The Client 
shall make no request of the Engineer that, in the Engineer’s reasonable opinion, would be contrary to the Engineer’s 
professional responsibilities to protect the public. The Client shall take all actions and render all reports required of the 
Client in a timely manner. Should the Client fail to take any required actions or render any required notices to 
appropriate public authorities in a timely manner, the Client agrees that the Engineer has the right to exercise its 
professional judgment in reporting to appropriate public officials or taking other necessary action. The Client agrees to 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 16 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

take no action against or attempt to hold the Engineer liable in any way for carrying out what the Engineer reasonably 
believes to be its public responsibility. Furthermore, the Client agrees the Engineer shall not be held liable in any respect 
for reporting said conditions. Accordingly, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and sub-consultants (collectively, Engineer) against all 
damages, liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with the Engineer’s notifying or failing to notify 
appropriate public officials. 
 

15. Accessibility.  It is recognized that the Client has certain obligations under local, state and Federal accessibility laws 
and regulations that could affect the design of the Project. It is further recognized that Federal accessibility laws and 
regulations are not part of, or necessarily compatible with, State or local laws, codes and regulations governing 
construction. Consequently, the Engineer will be unable to make recommendations or professional determinations that 
will ensure compliance with the Federal accessibility laws and regulations, and the Engineer shall, accordingly, not have 
any liability to the Client in connection with the same. The Engineer strongly advises the Client to obtain appropriate 
legal and financial counsel with respect to compliance with the appropriate disability access laws. The Engineer will 
endeavor to design for accessibility by persons with disabilities in conformance with the provisions and references in 
applicable State or local building codes and the technical design requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) and/or the Fair Housing Act (FHA) in effect as of the date of completion of the design to the extent those 
statutes apply to the Project. The Client will determine the full extent of its obligations under the ADA and Fair Housing 
Act Amendments (FHAA), including whether the ADA and/or the FHAA apply to the Project, the extent that 
modifications are readily achievable under the ADA, and the extent that modifications to improve disability access are 
necessary during an alteration and provide the Engineer with such information. The Client acknowledges that it has 
been advised by the Engineer to retain a consultant (Accessibility Consultant) to review the project plans, specifications, 
and construction for compliance with the Americans with Disability Act, the Fair Housing Act, and other Federal, state, 
and local accessibility laws, rules, codes, ordinances, and regulations (hereinafter referred to as “Accessibility Issues”). 
If Client fails to retain an Accessibility Consultant, the Client agrees to release defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 
Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, Engineer) from any claim, damages, 
liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with Accessibility Issues.  
 

16. Specification of Materials. The Client understands and agrees that products or building materials that are permissible 
under current building codes and ordinances may, at some future date, be banned or limited in use in the construction 
industry because of presently unknown hazardous and/or defective characteristics. The Engineer is only expected to 
meet current industry standards and may rely on manufacturers’ information and representations. The Client agrees 
that if any product or material specified for this Project by the Engineer shall, at any future date be suspected or 
discovered to be defective or a health or safety hazard, then the Client shall waive all claims as a result thereof against 
the Engineer. The Client further agrees that if the Client directs the Engineer to specify any product or material after the 
Engineer has informed the Client that such product or material may not be suitable or may embody characteristics that 
are suspected of causing or may cause the product or material to be considered a hazardous substance in the future, the 
Client waives all claims as a result thereof against the Engineer, and the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Engineer from any damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and defense costs, arising in any way from the specification or use of any products or materials which, at any future 
date, become known or suspected health or safety hazards 
 

17. Opinions or Estimates of Costs. If included in the Services, the Engineer will provide preliminary opinions of probable 
costs of materials, installation, remediation or construction and/or total project costs based on the Engineer’s experience 
on similar projects, which are not intended for Client’s or others’ use in developing firm budgets or financial models, or 
making investment decisions. Client agrees that any opinion of cost is still merely an estimate. 

 
18. Limit of Liability.  The inclusion of this Limitation of Liability provision is a material consideration for the Engineer’s 

willingness to perform the services.  In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the Project to both the Client and 
the Engineer, the risks have been allocated such that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Engineer: 
1.) waive against each other, and the other’s employees, owners, partners, officers, directors, shareholders, agents, 
insurers, and sub-consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, indirect, or consequential 
damages of any nature whatsoever or claims expenses from any cause or causes, including attorney’s fees and costs and 
expert-witness fees and costs arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the Project; and 2.) agree that 
Engineer’s total aggregate liability to Client under this Agreement shall be limited to the total amount of 
compensation received by Engineer on this Project or $50,000, whichever is greater. In no event shall the limit exceed 
the insurance amount.  This limitation shall apply to any and all liability regardless of the cause of action or legal theory 
placed or asserted unless otherwise prohibited by law.  Upon Client’s request, Engineer may negotiate an increase to 
this limitation in exchange for an additional agreed consideration for the increased limit.  Client and Engineer agree to 
limit liability to the other in the following respects to the fullest extent permitted by law:  Neither party will have liability 
to the other for any specials, indirect or consequential, incidental, exemplary, or penal losses or damages including, but 
not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation, unavailability of the other 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 17 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

party’s property or facility, shutdowns or service interruptions, and any other consequential damages or claims related 
to the Project that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach 
of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty.  Both the Client and the Engineer shall require similar waivers of 
consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others 
involved in this Project.   
 

19. Insurance.  Throughout the term of this Agreement, Engineer shall maintain insurance in amounts not less than shown: 
a) Worker’s Compensation Statutory amount where services are performed 
b) Automobile   $1,000,000 combined single limit 
c) General Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence / $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
d) Professional Liability  $1,000,000 per claim and aggregate 
e) Excess Umbrella  $5,000,000 on “b” & “c” 

 
Client agrees to require all third parties engaged by or through Client in connection with the Project to provide Engineer 
with current Certificates of Insurance Endorsed to include Engineer as an additional insured on their “b”, “c” and “e” 
policies of insurance and authorizes Engineer to enforce this provision directly with all Project related third parties. 

 
20. Indemnification.   

 
A. Indemnification of Client:  Subject to the provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Engineer agrees to 

indemnify and hold harmless Client, its shareholders, officers, directors and employees from and against any 
and all liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorney’s fees) or other losses 
(collectively “Losses”) to the extent caused by Engineer’s negligent performance of its Services under this 
Agreement.  
 

B. Indemnification of Engineer:  To the extent allowed to a municipality by Georgia law and subject to the 
provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Client agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer 
from and against any and all claims by third parties related to services provided by Engineer under this 
Agreement, and against any and all Losses to the extent caused by the negligence of Client, its employees, 
agents and contractors.  In addition, except to the extent caused by Engineer’s sole negligence, Client expressly 
agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any and all Losses arising from or 
related to the existence, disposal, release, discharge, treatment or transportation of Hazardous Materials, or 
the exposure of any person to Hazardous Materials, or the degradation of the environment due to the presence, 
discharge, disposal, release of or exposure to Hazardous Material. 

 
21. Dispute Resolution.  Claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy between Engineer and Client caused by or any 

way related to this Agreement will be submitted to non-binding mediation as a condition precedent to litigation. The 
Client and the Engineer further agree to include a similar mediation performed with rules as established by The 
American Arbitration Association provision in all agreements with independent contractors and consultants retained 
for the Project and to require all independent contractors and consultants also to include a similar mediation provision 
in all agreements with their subcontractors, subconsultants, suppliers and fabricators, thereby providing for mediation 
as the primary method for dispute resolution among the parties to all those agreements.  The cost for mediation including 
the mediator’s fees, reproduction of documents, and miscellaneous out-of-pocket expenses will be borne equally by each 
party to this Agreement.  The laws of the State of Georgia will govern the validity of these terms, their interpretation 
and performance.  Client and Engineer agree that venue for any litigation will be in the courts of the State of Georgia 
and Engineer and Client both hereby waive any right to initiate any action in or remove any action to, any other 
jurisdiction. 
 

22. Severability. This agreement reflects the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its terms and supersedes all prior 
agreements, whether written or oral.  If any portion of this Agreement is void or voidable, such portion will be deemed 
stricken and the Agreement reformed to as closely approximate the stricken portions as the law allows. 
 



  

6310 Peake Road ♦ Macon, Georgia 31210 ♦ 478.477.3923 tel  ♦ 478.477.4691 fax 
 

February 16, 2021 
 

 
Honorable Bill Slaughter, Chairman 
Lowndes County Board of Commissioners 
327 N. Ashley Street 
3rd Floor 
Valdosta, GA 31601 
 
 
RE: Lowndes County, Georgia  

Letter Agreement- OPB-ARPA Award 
Water Line Improvements 
C&S File No.: L8400.072 (Invoice File) 

 
 
Dear Chairman Slaughter: 
  

Carter & Sloope, Inc. (C&S or Engineer) is pleased to submit this Proposal/Scope of Services letter 
for the above referenced project to provide engineering services to the Lowndes County Board of 
Commissioners (Client or Owner) for preliminary engineering, assistance with funding 
applications, engineering design, permitting and bidding assistance, and construction phase 
services including general administration of construction contract for the proposed Water Line 
Improvements Project. The scope of services described below is based on our understanding of the 
project from discussions and emails with the County throughout the past several years. 

 
Scope of Work (Basic Services) 
 
1. Preliminary Engineering / Funding Assistance 

 
C&S will meet with the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners to discuss and define the scope 
and boundaries of the project. Other preliminary work may include developing conceptual plans 
and preliminary opinions of probable project costs and all work prior to developing the scope of 
work. C&S will advise the Lowndes County Board of Commissioners of any need for them to 
provide data or services which are not part of Engineer’s Basic Services. 
 
Our understanding of the Scope of Work includes the following:  
 

To address the need to provide a permanent reliable water supply to residents in north 
Lowndes County, currently on private wells, the County is proposing to install approximately 
7,500 LF of water line with associated valves and fire hydrants. The new water line will be 
sized to provide sufficient capacity and pressure, along with meeting fire flow demands. 
Residents will be tied on to the County’s system by connecting to this new pipe. This new line 
will extend from Val Del Road to McMillan Road in the County. 

 
C&S will assist the County and grant administrator in preparing the application for OPB-ARPA 
(American Rescue Plan Act) funding to accomplish the project scope described above. At a minimum 
cost estimate, project schedules, and a project narrative will be developed by C&S for usage in the 
application. Once funded, C&S will continue to work with the grant administrator in completing the 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 2 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

requirements necessary for a successful completion of the project. This includes any special conditions 
or special requirements of the OPB-ARPA grant program. 
 

2. Engineering Design 
 
C&S will furnish a 2-person survey crew to survey the project areas.  Field-run linear and topographic 
surveying will generate 2 ft. contour data of the project area tied to the Georgia State Plane Coordinate 
System using NAVD-88 elevation datum and it will locate the existing features including any above 
ground utilities or below ground utilities that are marked by the utility owner.  We will not conduct 
any boundary surveys unless requested by the Client as an Additional Service or unless included as 
part of our Basic Services for providing Easement sketches. Prior to beginning surveying, we will 
contact the Utilities Protection Center and request a design locate.  It has been our experience that 
most non-municipal utility owners like the phone, power and cable companies, do not respond or 
respond very slowly to design locate requests so it has been our experience that local knowledge from 
Client’s personnel is extremely valuable; therefore, we will work closely with the Client in identifying 
areas of potential conflict.  C&S will not conduct any subsurface investigations or subsurface utility 
engineering (SUE) to locate existing utilities or determine elevations of subsurface utilities unless 
requested by the Client as an Additional Service. 
 
After the linear and topographic surveying is completed, C&S will prepare preliminary design 
documents for the proposed project within 4 months.  At approximately 60% completion, we will 
meet with Client’s personnel to present the preliminary design for review.  Within 2 months after 
receipt, we will address any comments the Client has with the preliminary design and then prepare 
and furnish detailed final design Drawings and Specifications in a 16-division format (100% complete) 
indicating the scope, extent and character of the work to be performed and furnished by the 
Contractor during the construction of the project.  We will submit the 100% complete Drawings and 
Specifications to the Client for their review and approval and we will review any comments and 
recommendations and incorporate needed changes in the final design 100% complete Documents, 
which will include detailed construction plans and technical specifications of the following general 
items: 

a. Civil engineering design including site work, yard piping, valves, hydraulic design and soil 
erosion and sediment control 

Contemporaneous with the presentation of each design, C&S will provide the Client with a 
Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost and Total Project Costs known to the Engineer 
for both the preliminary design (60% complete) and final designs (100% complete).  This preliminary 
cost estimate will itemize the quantities and anticipated unit prices for each component needed for 
the project. 

 
C&S will also provide the Client with one (1) full-size set of final design documents (100% complete) 
plus digital copies in Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format.  All other documents, including calculations, 
estimates, etc., will be submitted in their native format. 
 

3. Permitting Assistance 
 
After the final design documents are approved by the Client, C&S will provide technical criteria, 
written descriptions, and design data to assist the Client in obtaining permits required for the 
project with the understanding that it is the Client’s sole responsibility to secure permits and pay 
all necessary permit fees.  We will complete the necessary permit applications and submit the 
required copies of the final construction drawings and technical specifications to the appropriate 
review agencies for approval of the necessary permits to construct the project.  We will also assist 
the Client in consultations with such agencies and revise the Drawings and Specifications and 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 3 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

permit applications in response to directives from such agencies, if necessary.  We anticipate 
submitting the following: 

 
a. Land Disturbing Permit Application to the Local Issuing Authority, which is Lowndes 

County; 
b. Water Project Submittal to submit to the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 

Environmental Protection Division (EPD); 
Note that we will provide information to the Contractor to submit the NPDES Permit Application 
for Temporary Stormwater Discharge Associated from Construction Activity for Infrastructure Construction 
Projects (GAR 100002) and the Notice of Intent to EPD through the GEOS system. 

 
4. Bidding 
 

C&S will assist the Client in advertising and obtaining competitive and qualified bids for the 
project in accordance with local and State law.  The advertisement period shall last a minimum of 
30 days and the Client will pay all necessary advertising fees.  C&S will provide the Client with 
the necessary Bidding Documents, which will include one (1) full-size hard copy set of final design 
Drawings and Specifications to be kept on file during the advertisement period.  The client may 
place a copy of the Advertisement for Bids (Section 00100) on their website during the 
advertisement period, however, electronic copies of the entire set of Bidding Documents shall not 
be placed on the Client’s website, FTP site or other electronic platform during Bidding for 
download by bidders or any third party without the Engineer’s consent and approval.   
 
C&S will maintain a record of prospective bidders to whom Bidding Documents have been issued 
and receive and process nominal fees or charges from bidders to compensate the Engineer for costs 
associated with printing, reproduction and shipping the Bidding Documents to bidders.  We will 
respond to Requests for Information (RFIs) and issue Addenda as appropriate to clarify, correct, 
or change the Bidding Documents.  We will also consult with the Client and participate in all 
decisions as to the acceptability of substitute materials, subcontractors, suppliers, and other 
individuals and entities proposed by prospective contractors for those portions of the project as to 
which such acceptability is required by the Bidding Documents.  
 
C&S will attend and manage the Bid Opening, review bids, and prepare a Certified Bid 
Tabulation.  We will provide a Letter of Recommendation to the Client regarding award of the 
contract as appropriate and assist in assembling and executing the contracts for the Project.   
 
C&S will prepare the Notice of Award and Contract Documents and forward them to the selected 
Contractor for execution.  We will receive the executed contracts, bonds and insurance documents 
from the contractor and forward them to the Client for their review and approval.   

 
 
5. Construction Contract Administration 

 
Management of construction efforts (i.e. “construction management” services) are specifically 
excluded from our Scope of Work; however, if the Client authorizes us to proceed, C&S will 
provide professional services in the general administration of the construction contract and act as 
the Client’s representative during construction to the extent and limitations of the duties, 
responsibilities and authority of the Engineer as established in this written Agreement and in the 
Contract Documents. For the purposes of this Agreement, we are assuming the contract period 
will be 180 calendar days (or 6-months).  After the contracts have been executed by all parties, 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 4 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

C&S will complete, with reasonable promptness, the following tasks as needed during 
construction of the project: 

 
a. Pre-Construction Conference: Attend and lead one (1) pre-construction conference that will be 

hosted by the Client at their office and issue a Notice to Proceed to the selected Contractor. 
 
b. Baselines and Benchmarks:  As appropriate, establish baselines and benchmarks for locating the 

Work which, in the Engineer’s judgment, are necessary to enable the Contractor to proceed. 
 
c. Clarifications and Interpretations (Field Orders): Respond in writing with reasonable promptness 

to Requests for Information (RFI’s) and issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of 
the Contract Documents as appropriate to the orderly completion of Contractor’s work.  Such 
clarifications and interpretations will be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable 
from the Contract Documents and shall be provided as part of the Engineer’s Scope of 
Services; however, if the Contractor’s request for information, clarification, or interpretation 
are, in the Engineer’s professional opinion, for information readily apparent from reasonable 
observation of field conditions or a review of the Contract Documents, or are reasonably 
inferable there from, the Engineer shall be entitled to compensation for Additional Services 
for the Engineer’s time spent responding to such request provided the Engineer notify Client 
in advance that it deems such request to be so apparent, seek compensation for such 
clarification and interpretation and Client does not timely instruct the Engineer not to 
undertake the clarification or interpretation.  Should the Client agree to reimburse the 
Engineer for these Additional Services, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the 
Client that will deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the 
Contractor. 

 
d. Change Orders:  Review and recommend Change Order justifications and prepare change orders 

to modify the Contract Documents as may be necessary. 
 
e. Shop Drawings and Samples:  Review and approve or take other appropriate action in respect to 

Shop Drawings and Samples and other data which Contractor is required to submit, but only 
for general conformance with the information given in the Contract Documents and 
compatibility with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents.  Such reviews and approvals or other action will not 
extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto. 

 
f. Schedules:  Review and determine the acceptability of schedules which the Contractor is 

required to develop and submit to Engineer, including the Progress Schedule, Schedule of 
Submittals, and Schedule of Values.  Since C&S will have no control over any Contractor’s 
schedule or work progress, we cannot develop and control the construction schedule beyond 
establishing the contract time and establishing liquidated damages if the Contractor does not 
obtain substantial completion within the required contract time.  

 
g. Substitutes and “or equal”:  Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or “or-equal” 

materials and equipment proposed by the Contractor, but subject to the provisions outlined in 
Additional Services. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 5 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

h. Progress Meetings: C&S will attend progress meetings at the jobsite as needed, but at a 
minimum, monthly.  We will prepare meeting agendas, lead the progress meetings and issue 
meeting minutes for review and approval by the Client and Contractor. 

 
i. Applications for Payments:  Based on Engineer’s observations as an experienced and qualified 

professional and on review of Applications for Payment and accompanying supporting 
documentation: 
 
1) Determine the amount that Engineer recommends Contractor be paid.  Such 

recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute Engineer’s 
representation to Client, based on such observations and review, that, to the best of 
Engineer’s reasonable knowledge, information and belief, Contractor’s Work has 
progressed to the point indicated, the quality of such Work is generally in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract 
Documents, and being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it 
is Engineer’s responsibility to observe Contractor’s Work.  In the case of unit price work, 
Engineer’s recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities and 
classifications of Contractor’s Work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the 
Contract Documents). 

2) By recommending any payment to the Contractor, Engineer shall not thereby be deemed 
to have represented that observations made by Engineer to check the quality or quantity of 
Contractor’s Work as it is performed and furnished have been exhaustive, extended to every 
aspect of Contractor’s Work in progress, or involved detailed or special inspections of the 
Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement. 
Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment including final payment will 
impose on Engineer responsibility to supervise, direct, or control Contractor’s Work in 
progress or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction 
or safety precautions or programs incident thereto, or Contractor’s compliance with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s furnishing and performing the Work beyond the 
responsibilities specifically assigned to the Engineer in this Agreement.  It will also not 
impose responsibility on Engineer to make any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or to 
determine that title to any portion of the Work in progress, materials, or equipment has 
passed to Client free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, or 
that there may not be other matters at issue between Client and Contractor that might affect 
the amount that should be paid. 

j. Record Drawings:  Prepare and furnish the Client one (1) set of reproducible and one (1) 
electronic copy in Adobe Acrobat PDF format of the Project Record Drawings showing 
appropriate record information that is annotated and furnished to us by the Contractor in 
accordance with the Contract Documents after construction is complete.    

 
k. Contractor’s Completion Documents: Receive from the Contractor and transmit to the Client 

operating and maintenance manuals, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other 
evidence of insurance required by the Contract Documents, certificates of inspection, tests and 
approvals, Shop Drawings, Samples and other data, including the annotated Record 
Documents and Record Drawings which are to be assembled by Contractor and furnished to 
us. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 6 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

l. Substantial Completion:  After receiving notice from Contractor that they consider the entire 
Work complete and ready for its intended use, we will conduct one (1) pre-final observation 
in company with the Client and Contractor to observe the Contractor’s work to determine if, 
based on the Engineer’s professional opinion and belief and based only on information 
available at the time of pre-final on-site observation, the Work is substantially complete.  If we 
do not consider the Work substantially complete, we will notify the Contractor in writing 
giving reasons therefore.  If, after considering any objections of Client, Engineer considers the 
Work substantially complete, Engineer shall deliver a certificate of Substantial Completion to 
Client and Contractor in accordance with the provisions in the Contract Documents.  
Attached to the certificate will be a punch-list of items that, in the Engineer’s professional 
opinion, knowledge and belief, are deficient and must be completed or corrected before we 
recommend final payment be made to the Contractor by the Client.  The certificate of 
Substantial Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional 
opinion and therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.   

 
m. Final Notice of Acceptability of the Work:  After receiving notice from the Contractor that the 

punch-list items are completed, we will conduct one (1) final on-site observation in company 
with Client and the Contractor to determine if the completed Work of Contractor is acceptable 
in the Engineer’s professional opinion, reasonable knowledge and belief and based only on 
information available at the time of final on-site observation and to the extent of the services 
provided by Engineer under this Agreement, so that Engineer may recommend, in writing, 
final payment to Contractor.  We will notify the Contractor and the Client in writing of any 
particulars in which the final observation reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. 

 
n. Project Completion Statement: EPD will require a statement from the Engineer of Record that 

the project has been completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and 
that the Contractor has satisfactorily completed the project.  Therefore, after we conduct the 
final on-site observation, we will, upon determining that in the Engineer’s professional opinion 
and belief and based only on information available at the time of final on-site observation, 
furnish a letter to EPD and one (1) copy to the Client that the Project is completed in 
accordance with EPD’s approved Drawings and Specifications.  The Statement of Project 
Completion is intended to be interpreted only as an expression of professional opinion and 
therefore does not constitute an expressed warranty or guarantee.  The statement of project 
completion will be for the sole use of the Client and the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources, Environmental Protection Division and cannot be used or relied upon by any third 
party without the expressed written permission from C&S. 

 
o. Limitation of Responsibilities:  Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any 

Contractor, or of any subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or 
furnishing any portions of the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer 
shall not be responsible for the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 

 
6. Construction Observation 

 
If the Client does not authorize C&S to provide onsite construction observations services, then it 
is understood that the Engineer’s Scope of Services under this Agreement does not include 
construction phase services including, but not limited to, general administration of the 
construction contract, acting as the Client’s representative during construction,  and/or providing 
onsite project/construction observation or review of the Contractor’s performance or any other 
construction phase services, and that such services will be provided for by the Client. The Client 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 7 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

assumes all responsibility for interpretation of the Contract Documents and for construction 
observation and the Client waives any claims against the Engineer that may be in any way 
connected thereto. 
 
In addition, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, the 
Engineer) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense 
costs, arising out of or in any way connected with the performance of such services by other 
persons or entities and from any and all claims arising from modifications, clarifications, 
interpretations, adjustments or changes made to the Contract Documents to reflect changed field 
or other conditions, except for claims arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Engineer. 
 
Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, or of any 
subcontractors, suppliers, or other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any portions of 
the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  The Engineer shall not be responsible for 
the failure of any Contractor to perform or furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents or any laws, codes, rules or regulations. 
 
If the Client requests in writing that the Engineer provide any specific construction phase services, 
and if the Engineer agrees in writing to provide such services, then the Engineer shall be 
compensated for providing these services as an Additional Services. 

 
7. Easement Sketches/Property Plats 

 
C&S will prepare easement sketches/property plats, if needed, for temporary and/or permanent 
easements and/or property purchase.  We do not know exactly how many easements and/or plats, 
if any, will be needed because the surveying and preliminary and/or final layout of the proposed 
utility has not been completed; however, we will attempt to design the proposed utility in such a way 
as to have the least impact as possible to private property.  Therefore, we will invoice hourly for 
preparing easements sketches as shown below. 

 
 
Fee Basis 
 
We propose to complete our work for Basic Services described herein for the lump sum and/or hourly 
amounts as scheduled below.  Hourly amounts shall be determined in accordance with our Hourly 
Fee Schedule.    
 

Task No. Description Fee Basis 

1 Preliminary Engineering / Funding 
Assistance  $0.00 

2-3 Engineering Design, Permitting 
Assistance 

$70,000 

4 Bidding $10,000 

5 Construction Contract Administration                                   $20,000 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 8 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Additional Services  
 
Services not included within the Basic Scope of Services above, which are considered Additional Services, 
are specifically excluded from the Scope of the Engineer’s services, but can be provided on an hourly basis 
in accordance with our Hourly Fee Schedule or as agreed to in writing by the Client and the Engineer.  
Additional Services include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Services resulting from significant changes in the scope, extent, or character of the portions of the 

Project designed or specified by Engineer or its design requirements including, but not limited to, 
changes in size, complexity, Client’s schedule, character of construction, or method of financing; 
and revising previously accepted reports, Drawings or Specifications, or other project related 
documents when such revisions are required by changes in Laws and regulations enacted 
subsequent to the date of this proposal or are due to any other causes beyond Engineer’s control. 

b. Services required as a result of Client providing incomplete or incorrect Project information to 
Engineer. 

c. Furnishing services of Engineer’s Sub-Consultants, if any, for other than Basic Services. 
d. Preparing for, coordinating with, participating in and responding to structured independent review 

processes, including, but not limited to construction management, cost estimating, project peer 
review, value engineering, and constructability review requested by Client; and performing or 
furnishing services required to revise studies, reports, Drawings, Specifications, or other Bidding 
Documents as a result of such review processes. 

e. Preparing additional Bidding Documents or Contract Documents for alternate bids or prices 
requested by Client for the Work or a portion thereof. 

f. Determining the acceptability of substitute materials and equipment proposed after the Bidding 
and making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the acceptance of substitute 
materials or equipment other than “or-equal” items; and services after the award of the 
Construction Contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of a substitution which is 
found to be inappropriate for the Project or an excessive number of substitutions. 

g. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding, or renegotiating contracts for construction, 
materials, equipment, or services. 

h. Providing Construction Phase services beyond the construction Contract Times, which is 
estimated at 180 days, or man-hours listed herein. 

i. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for Client in any litigation, arbitration, or 
other dispute resolution process related to the Project.  Preparation time for deposition and trial 
testimony or arbitration will be charged at hourly rate multiplied by 1.25. Actual time for 
deposition, trial testimony or arbitration including travel time will be charged at hourly rate 
multiplied by 2.0. Reimbursable expenses will be charged at actual cost multiplied by 1.15. 

j. Providing more extensive services required to enable Engineer to issue notices or certifications 
requested by Client and not specifically provided in the Basic Services. 

k. Services in connection with Work Change Directives and Change Orders to reflect changes 
requested by Client so as to make compensation commensurate with the extent of the Additional 
Services rendered. 

l. Additional or extended services made necessary by (1) emergencies or acts of God endangering 
the Work, (2) the presence at the Site of any Hazardous Materials and/or Environmental 
Conditions (the presence of asbestos, PCBs, petroleum, hazardous substances or waste, and 
radioactive materials), (3) Work damaged by fire or other cause during construction, (4) a 

6-7 Construction Observation, Easement 
Sketches, Property Plats Hourly 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 9 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

significant amount of defective, neglected, or delayed work by Contractor, (5) acceleration of the 
progress schedule involving services beyond normal working hours, or (6) default by Contractor. 

m. Reviewing Shop Drawings more than two (2) times as a result of repeated inadequate submissions 
by Contractor. In such an event, the Engineer shall prepare a Change Order for the Client that will 
deduct the cost of these Additional Services from the Client’s contract with the Contractor. 

n. Geotechnical engineering and materials testing during construction.  The Client should contract 
directly with a geotechnical engineer for geotechnical consulting services, if needed. 

o. Archeological and Historical Preservation consulting; 
p. Delineating wetlands or flood plain determinations. 
q. U.S. Army Corps of Engineering Permitting; 
r. Providing topographic surveys or construction surveys and/or staking to enable Contractor to 

perform its work not specifically detailed in the Basic Services; and,  and any type of property or 
boundary surveys or easements or related engineering or surveying services needed for the transfer 
of interests in real property; and providing other special field surveys not specifically detailed in 
the Basic Services. 

s. Assistance with funding alternative including, but not limited to, loan/funding applications, grant 
writing, engineering reports, rates studies, etc. unless specifically included in the Basic Services; 

t. Environmental Surveys including, but not limited to, wetlands, endangered species, cultural 
resources, historic preservation resources or special sub-consultants for permits; 

u. Preparing for and participating in public meetings and/or public hearings unless specifically 
included in the Basic Services; 

v. Other services performed or furnished by Engineer not otherwise detailed or provided for in this 
Agreement. 

w. All building and permit fees and building inspection fees 
 
Hourly Fee Schedule 
 
Hourly rates used for Basic and/or Additional Services shall be determined by multiplying individual 
hourly rates of each class of employee by the number of hours spent performing the service. 
 

Employee Classification          Hourly Rates 
Principal IV $255 
Principal III $230 
Principal II $205 
Principal I $200 
Principal  $190 
Senior Professional Engineer V $230 
Senior Professional Engineer IV $215 
Senior Professional Engineer III $195 
Senior Professional Engineer II $180 
Senior Professional Engineer I $165 
Project Engineer VI $155 
Project Engineer V $145 
Project Engineer IV $135 
Project Engineer III $125 
Project Engineer II $115 
Project Engineer I $105 
Staff Engineer $  95 
Project Manager IX $210 
Project Manager VIII $200 
Project Manager VII $190 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 10 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

Project Manager VI $180 
Project Manager V $170 
Project Manager IV $160 
Project Manager III $150 
Project Manager II $140   
Project Manager I  $130 
Funding Specialist IV $135 
Funding Specialist III $125 
Funding Specialist II $115 
Funding Specialist I $  95 
Funding Specialist $  75 
Design Technician V $120 
Design Technician IV $110 
Design Technician III $100 
Design Technician II $  90 
Design Technician I $  80 
CADD Drafter $  60 
Construction Observer VII $145 
Construction Observer VI $135  
Construction Observer V $125 
Construction Observer IV $115  
Construction Observer III $105 
Construction Observer II $  95 
Construction Observer I $  75 
Administrative Support Staff V $100 
Administrative Support Staff IV $  90 
Administrative Support Staff III $  80 
Administrative Support Staff II $  70 
Administrative Support Staff I $  60 
Registered Land Surveyor $105 
2-Person Survey Team $165 
GIS Technician $  80 
Sub-Consultants (if required) Actual Cost X 1.15 

 
C&S reserves the right to adjust the Hourly Fee Schedule annually beginning January 1, 2022 and we 
will provide the Client with an updated schedule prior to any hourly rates increases. Note that any 
changes to our Hourly Fee Schedule will not affect any of our lump sum and/or not-to-exceed fees 
stated herein. 

 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding our proposed Scope of Work and/or proposed fee 
schedule, please contact me.  I would welcome the opportunity to discuss this with you.  If the Scope of 
Services is acceptable, please sign, date, and return one (1) copy to us for our files.  Once approved, C&S 
can begin work on this project immediately. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Tom H. Sloope, P.E. 
 
THS:rkd 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 11 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

 
cc:  Charlie Tucker  
 Stephen Rakestraw 
 Jared Wozny 
 Arin Howell 
 Gabe Morris 
 Connie Persall  

File 
 
Client Acceptance, Initial as desired: 
 
 

Preliminary Engineering/ Funding Assistance, Task 1 
 

Engineering Design, Permitting Assistance, Task 2-3 
 

Bidding, Task 4 
 

Construction Contract Administration, Task 5 
 

Construction Observation, Easement Sketches, Property Plats, Task 6-7 
 
 
I hereby acknowledge review of this Scope of Services and authorize Carter & Sloope, Inc. to proceed 
with the work as desired above and defined in this agreement. 
 
             
Signature      Date 
 
Chairman       
Title  



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 12 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Client herby accepts the following general terms and conditions (“Terms and Conditions”) applicable to Carter & 
Sloope, Inc.’s performance of the services described in the attached Proposal (the “Services”): 
 
1. Method and Terms of Payment:  Invoices will be submitted by Carter & Sloope, Inc. (“Carter & Sloope”, “C&S”, or 

“Engineer”) monthly in proportion to services performed and are due upon receipt.  Any amounts not paid by the Client 
within thirty (30) days of the date of such invoices shall be considered past due and shall accrue interest at a rate of one-
and-one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the maximum allowed by law, whichever is less, of the past due amount per 
month until such time as such amounts are paid in full.  Payment thereafter shall first be applied to accrued interest and 
then the unpaid principal. If the Client fails to make payment to the Engineer in accordance with the payment terms 
herein, this shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and the Engineer shall have the right, upon seven (7) 
days written notice, to suspend performance of all or part of the Services in accordance with Paragraph 2 “Suspension” 
until 1.) all past due amounts are paid, and 2.) satisfactory assurance of prompt future payment is received by the 
Engineer. The above right is in addition to all other rights and remedies Engineer may have at law or in equity including 
termination of this Agreement by the Engineer for cause in accordance with Paragraph 3 “Termination” herein. 
 

A. Collection Costs: If the Client fails to make payments when due and the Engineer incurs any costs in order to 
collect overdue sums from the Client, the Client agrees that all such collection costs incurred shall immediately 
become due and payable to the Engineer. Collection costs shall include, without limitation, legal fees, 
collection agency fees and expenses, court costs, collection bonds and reasonable Engineer staff costs at 
standard billing rates for the Engineer’s time spent in efforts to collect. This obligation of the Client to pay the 
Engineer’s collection costs shall survive the term of this Agreement or any earlier termination by either party. 

 
B. Set-offs, Backcharges, Discounts: Payment of invoices shall not be subject to any discounts or set-offs by the Client 

unless agreed to in writing by the Engineer. Payment to the Engineer for services rendered and expenses 
incurred shall be due and payable regardless of any subsequent suspension or termination of this Agreement 
by either party. 

 
C. Disputed Invoices: If the Client objects to any portion of an invoice, the Client shall so notify the Engineer in 

writing within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the invoice. The Client shall identify in writing the specific 
cause of the disagreement and the amount in dispute and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute 
in accordance with the other payment terms of this Agreement. Any dispute over invoiced amounts due which 
cannot be resolved within ten (10) calendar days after presentation of invoice by direct negotiation between 
the parties shall be resolved within thirty (30) calendar days in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
provision of this Agreement. Interest as stated above shall be paid by the Client on all disputed invoice amounts 
that are subsequently resolved in the Engineer’s favor and shall be calculated on the unpaid balance from the 
date of the invoice. 

 
D. Legislative Action: If after the Effective Date of this Agreement, any governmental entity takes legislative action 

that imposes taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 
Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a factor of 1.0 
shall be applied. Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new taxes, fees and charges in 
addition to the compensation agreed to herein. 

 
2. Suspension: The Client may suspend all or part of the Project for up to ninety (90) days upon seven (7) days written 

notice to the Engineer.  The Engineer may, after giving seven (7) days written notice to the Client, suspend services 
under this Agreement if Engineer’s performance has been substantially delayed through no fault of the Engineer. In the 
event the Project is suspended for period(s) totaling more than ninety (90) days, Client agrees to pay reasonable costs 
incurred by the Engineer in: 1.) preserving and documenting services performed or in progress, and 2.) demobilizing 
and remobilizing services. The Engineer shall have no liability whatsoever to the Client for any costs or damages as a 
result of such suspension caused by any breach of this Agreement by the Client. Suspended projects may change in 
many ways due to the passage of time, changes in the size or environment, regulatory modifications, or other issues 
outside of Engineer’s control. Engineer is not and shall not be responsible for any such changes, except to the 
responsibility or otherwise becomes aware of such issues and the Engineer may rely on information received from the 
Client or others regarding such issues. Upon payment in full by the Client, the Engineer shall resume services under this 
Agreement; however, a reassessment of the project scope, fee, and project schedule may be performed by the Engineer 
as an Additional Service. Upon the conclusion of the project reassessment, the time schedule and Engineer’s 
compensation shall be equitably adjusted to compensate for the period of suspension plus any reasonable time and 
expense necessary for the Engineer to resume performance. 
 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 13 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

3. Termination:  In the event of termination of this Agreement by either party, the Client shall, within fifteen (15) calendar 
days of termination, pay the Engineer for the services rendered and fees provided in the invoice and all reimbursable expenses 
incurred by the Engineer, its agents and subcontractors up to the termination date in accordance with the payment provisions 
of this Agreement. In the event of any termination that is not the fault of the Engineer, the Client shall pay the Engineer, 
in addition to payment for services rendered and reimbursable costs incurred, for all expenses reasonably incurred by 
the Engineer in connection with the orderly termination of this Agreement, including but not limited to demobilization, 
to complete tasks whose value would otherwise be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and uncompleted 
tasks, to assemble Project Materials in orderly files, reassignment of personnel, associated overhead costs and all other 
expenses directly resulting from the termination. 

 
The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated as follows: 
 
A. For Cause:  Either party may terminate the Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than thirty (30) 

days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement and through no fault of the terminating party. 
 
1. Assignment of this Agreement or transfer of the Project by either party to any other entity without prior written 

consent of the other party; or 
2. If, through any cause, the Engineer shall fail to fulfill in timely and proper manner any material obligations 

under this Agreement, or if the Engineer shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this 
Agreement, the Client shall thereupon give written notice to the Engineer of such failure, violation or breach.  
If Engineer has not or cannot remedy such failure, violation or breach within thirty (30) days of the giving of 
such notice by the Client, the Client shall thereupon have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving 
written notice to the Engineer of such termination and specifying the effective date thereof, at least ten (10) 
days before the effective date of such termination.  In such event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, 
studies, surveys, drawings, maps, models, photographs and reports prepared by the Engineer under this 
Agreement shall, at the option of the Client subject to the requirements in Paragraph 11 herein, become its 
property and the Engineer shall be paid within fifteen (15) calendar days of termination for all services 
rendered and all reimbursable expenses incurred by the Engineer up to date of termination.  Engineer shall 
have no liability to Client on account of such termination. 

3. Suspension of the Project or the Engineer’s services by the Client for more than ninety (90) calendar days, 
consecutive or in the aggregate; or  

4. If Client demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as licensed 
professional; or 

5. Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into, the Scope of Services or the 
nature of the Project, and the failure of the parties to reach agreement on the compensation and schedule 
adjustment necessitated by such changes. 
 

B. For Convenience: Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for convenience and without 
cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.  

 
4. Changes.  The Engineer’s commitment as set forth in this Agreement is based on the expectation that all of the services 

described in this Agreement will be provided. The Client may, from time to time, request changes in the scope of the services 
of the Engineer to be performed hereunder.  In the event the Client elects to reduce the Engineer’s Scope of Services, the 
Client hereby agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and indemnify the Engineer from any and all claims, damages, losses 
or costs associated with or arising out of such reduction in services.  Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the 
amount of the Engineer's compensation, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the Client and the Engineer, shall 
be incorporated in written amendments to this Contract. 

 
5. Personnel: The Engineer represents that he has, or will secure at his own expense, the personnel required in performing 

the services under this Agreement.  Such personnel shall not be employees of or have any contractual relationship with 
the Client.  All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Engineer or his sub-consultants under his 
supervision and personnel engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under State 
and Local Law to perform such services. 

 
6. Reports and Information.  The Engineer, at such times and in such forms as the Client may require, shall furnish the 

Client such periodic reports as it may request pertaining to the work or services undertaken pursuant to this Agreement, 
the costs and obligations incurred or to be incurred in connection therewith, and any other matters covered by this 
Agreement. 

 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 14 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

7. Certifications.  As used herein and throughout this Agreement, the words “certify” and/or “certification” shall mean an 
expression of the Engineering Consultant’s professional opinion to the best of its information, knowledge and belief, and 
therefore does not constitute a warranty or guarantee by the Engineer. 

 
8. Records and Audits.  The Engineer shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property and financial 

records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Agreement.  These records will be made available 
for audit purposes to the Client or any authorized representative, and will be retained for three years after, the expiration 
of this Contract unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Client. 

 
9. Findings Confidential.  All of the reports, information, data, etc., prepared or assembled by the Engineer under this 

Agreement are confidential and the Engineer agrees that they shall not be made available to any individual or 
organization without the prior written approval of the Client unless required by law, court order, or for use in connection 
with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation, or arbitration. 

 
10. Standard of Care, Disclaimer of Warranties. Engineer will strive to perform Services under this Agreement in a manner 

consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the 
same locality under similar conditions.  NO OTHER REPRESENTATION AND NO WARRANTY OR 
GUARANTEE, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS INCLUDED OR INTENDED BY THIS AGREEMENT.  
 

11. Ownership of Documents & Copyright.  All documents, including electronic files, prepared or furnished by Engineer 
are instruments of service, and Engineer retains all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, ownership and 
property interest (including the copyright and the right of reuse) in such documents, whether or not the Project is 
completed.  The Client may make and retain copies of them for information and reference in connection with the use 
of the Project; however, such copies are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by others, and may not be 
used by others unless otherwise required by law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative 
proceedings, mediation, or arbitration.  The Client agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s 
documents without first obtaining Engineer's prior written consent.  The Client may request and negotiate with the 
Engineer to acquire ownership of the documents for a mutually agreed amount.  If Client acquires ownership of 
Documents prepared by Engineer, Client agrees: 1.) that any subsequent reuse or modification of them by Client or any 
party obtaining them through Client will be at Client’s sole risk and without liability to engineer, and 2.) Client will 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any claims, damages, and liabilities arising from or 
related to any use, reuse or modification of Documents by Client or any party obtaining them through Client.  Client 
agrees that Engineer may retain copies of all documents for its files.  Electronic communications and CADD data 
transferred by Email, websites or computer disks (collectively “E-Data”) are provided only as an accommodation by 
Engineer for the benefit of Client.  Signed paper prints of documents constitute the contract deliverables. Client assumes 
the risk that E-Data may differ from the paper deliverable.  Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from 
and against Client, damages, and liabilities for defects or inappropriate use of E-Data created or transmitted by Engineer. 
 

12. Third-Party Beneficiaries and Reliance Upon Documents. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a 
contractual relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third-party against either the Client or the Engineer. 
Engineer’s performance of the Services, as set forth in this Agreement, is intended solely and exclusively for the Client’s 
benefit and use.  No party may claim under this Agreement as a third-party beneficiary, unless otherwise required by 
law, court order, or for use in connection with legal or administrative proceedings, mediation or arbitration.  Client 
agrees not to distribute, publish or otherwise disseminate Engineer’s Documents, without first obtaining Engineer’s 
prior written consent.  No third-party may rely upon Engineer’s documents or the performance or non-performance of 
services unless Engineer has agreed to such reliance in advance and in writing. The Client and Engineer agree to require 
a similar provision in all contracts with contractors, subcontractors, sub consultants, vendors and other entities involved 
in this Project to carry out the intent of this provision. 

 
13. Compliance with Local Laws.  The Engineer shall exercise usual and customary professional care in its effort to comply 

with applicable laws, codes and regulations as of the date of the execution of this Agreement.  Design changes made 
necessary by newly enacted laws, codes and regulations after this date shall entitle the Engineer to a reasonable 
adjustment in the schedule and additional compensation in accordance with the Additional Services provisions of this 
Agreement.    

 
14. Public Responsibility. Both the Client and the Engineer owe a duty of care to the public that requires them to conform 

to applicable codes, standards, regulations and ordinances, principally to protect the public health and safety. The Client 
shall make no request of the Engineer that, in the Engineer’s reasonable opinion, would be contrary to the Engineer’s 
professional responsibilities to protect the public. The Client shall take all actions and render all reports required of the 
Client in a timely manner. Should the Client fail to take any required actions or render any required notices to 
appropriate public authorities in a timely manner, the Client agrees that the Engineer has the right to exercise its 
professional judgment in reporting to appropriate public officials or taking other necessary action. The Client agrees to 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 15 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

take no action against or attempt to hold the Engineer liable in any way for carrying out what the Engineer reasonably 
believes to be its public responsibility. Furthermore, the Client agrees the Engineer shall not be held liable in any respect 
for reporting said conditions. Accordingly, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless the Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and sub-consultants (collectively, Engineer) against all 
damages, liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with the Engineer’s notifying or failing to notify 
appropriate public officials. 
 

15. Accessibility.  It is recognized that the Client has certain obligations under local, state and Federal accessibility laws 
and regulations that could affect the design of the Project. It is further recognized that Federal accessibility laws and 
regulations are not part of, or necessarily compatible with, State or local laws, codes and regulations governing 
construction. Consequently, the Engineer will be unable to make recommendations or professional determinations that 
will ensure compliance with the Federal accessibility laws and regulations, and the Engineer shall, accordingly, not have 
any liability to the Client in connection with the same. The Engineer strongly advises the Client to obtain appropriate 
legal and financial counsel with respect to compliance with the appropriate disability access laws. The Engineer will 
endeavor to design for accessibility by persons with disabilities in conformance with the provisions and references in 
applicable State or local building codes and the technical design requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) and/or the Fair Housing Act (FHA) in effect as of the date of completion of the design to the extent those 
statutes apply to the Project. The Client will determine the full extent of its obligations under the ADA and Fair Housing 
Act Amendments (FHAA), including whether the ADA and/or the FHAA apply to the Project, the extent that 
modifications are readily achievable under the ADA, and the extent that modifications to improve disability access are 
necessary during an alteration and provide the Engineer with such information. The Client acknowledges that it has 
been advised by the Engineer to retain a consultant (Accessibility Consultant) to review the project plans, specifications, 
and construction for compliance with the Americans with Disability Act, the Fair Housing Act, and other Federal, state, 
and local accessibility laws, rules, codes, ordinances, and regulations (hereinafter referred to as “Accessibility Issues”). 
If Client fails to retain an Accessibility Consultant, the Client agrees to release defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 
Engineer, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, Engineer) from any claim, damages, 
liabilities or costs arising out of or in any way connected with Accessibility Issues.  
 

16. Specification of Materials. The Client understands and agrees that products or building materials that are permissible 
under current building codes and ordinances may, at some future date, be banned or limited in use in the construction 
industry because of presently unknown hazardous and/or defective characteristics. The Engineer is only expected to 
meet current industry standards and may rely on manufacturers’ information and representations. The Client agrees 
that if any product or material specified for this Project by the Engineer shall, at any future date be suspected or 
discovered to be defective or a health or safety hazard, then the Client shall waive all claims as a result thereof against 
the Engineer. The Client further agrees that if the Client directs the Engineer to specify any product or material after the 
Engineer has informed the Client that such product or material may not be suitable or may embody characteristics that 
are suspected of causing or may cause the product or material to be considered a hazardous substance in the future, the 
Client waives all claims as a result thereof against the Engineer, and the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Engineer from any damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and defense costs, arising in any way from the specification or use of any products or materials which, at any future 
date, become known or suspected health or safety hazards 
 

17. Opinions or Estimates of Costs. If included in the Services, the Engineer will provide preliminary opinions of probable 
costs of materials, installation, remediation or construction and/or total project costs based on the Engineer’s experience 
on similar projects, which are not intended for Client’s or others’ use in developing firm budgets or financial models, or 
making investment decisions. Client agrees that any opinion of cost is still merely an estimate. 

 
18. Limit of Liability.  The inclusion of this Limitation of Liability provision is a material consideration for the Engineer’s 

willingness to perform the services.  In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the Project to both the Client and 
the Engineer, the risks have been allocated such that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Engineer: 
1.) waive against each other, and the other’s employees, owners, partners, officers, directors, shareholders, agents, 
insurers, and sub-consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, indirect, or consequential 
damages of any nature whatsoever or claims expenses from any cause or causes, including attorney’s fees and costs and 
expert-witness fees and costs arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the Project; and 2.) agree that 
Engineer’s total aggregate liability to Client under this Agreement shall be limited to the total amount of 
compensation received by Engineer on this Project or $50,000, whichever is greater. In no event shall the limit exceed 
the insurance amount.  This limitation shall apply to any and all liability regardless of the cause of action or legal theory 
placed or asserted unless otherwise prohibited by law.  Upon Client’s request, Engineer may negotiate an increase to 
this limitation in exchange for an additional agreed consideration for the increased limit.  Client and Engineer agree to 
limit liability to the other in the following respects to the fullest extent permitted by law:  Neither party will have liability 
to the other for any specials, indirect or consequential, incidental, exemplary, or penal losses or damages including, but 
not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation, unavailability of the other 



Honorable Bill Slaughter  February 16, 2021 
Page 16 
 

Master Rev. 08/31/2020 

party’s property or facility, shutdowns or service interruptions, and any other consequential damages or claims related 
to the Project that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach 
of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty.  Both the Client and the Engineer shall require similar waivers of 
consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others 
involved in this Project.   
 

19. Insurance.  Throughout the term of this Agreement, Engineer shall maintain insurance in amounts not less than shown: 
a) Worker’s Compensation Statutory amount where services are performed 
b) Automobile   $1,000,000 combined single limit 
c) General Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence / $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
d) Professional Liability  $1,000,000 per claim and aggregate 
e) Excess Umbrella  $5,000,000 on “b” & “c” 

 
Client agrees to require all third parties engaged by or through Client in connection with the Project to provide Engineer 
with current Certificates of Insurance Endorsed to include Engineer as an additional insured on their “b”, “c” and “e” 
policies of insurance and authorizes Engineer to enforce this provision directly with all Project related third parties. 

 
20. Indemnification.   

 
A. Indemnification of Client:  Subject to the provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Engineer agrees to 

indemnify and hold harmless Client, its shareholders, officers, directors and employees from and against any 
and all liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorney’s fees) or other losses 
(collectively “Losses”) to the extent caused by Engineer’s negligent performance of its Services under this 
Agreement.  
 

B. Indemnification of Engineer:  To the extent allowed to a municipality by Georgia law and subject to the 
provisions and limitations of this Agreement, Client agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer 
from and against any and all claims by third parties related to services provided by Engineer under this 
Agreement, and against any and all Losses to the extent caused by the negligence of Client, its employees, 
agents and contractors.  In addition, except to the extent caused by Engineer’s sole negligence, Client expressly 
agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from and against any and all Losses arising from or 
related to the existence, disposal, release, discharge, treatment or transportation of Hazardous Materials, or 
the exposure of any person to Hazardous Materials, or the degradation of the environment due to the presence, 
discharge, disposal, release of or exposure to Hazardous Material. 

 
21. Dispute Resolution.  Claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy between Engineer and Client caused by or any 

way related to this Agreement will be submitted to non-binding mediation as a condition precedent to litigation. The 
Client and the Engineer further agree to include a similar mediation performed with rules as established by The 
American Arbitration Association provision in all agreements with independent contractors and consultants retained 
for the Project and to require all independent contractors and consultants also to include a similar mediation provision 
in all agreements with their subcontractors, subconsultants, suppliers and fabricators, thereby providing for mediation 
as the primary method for dispute resolution among the parties to all those agreements.  The cost for mediation including 
the mediator’s fees, reproduction of documents, and miscellaneous out-of-pocket expenses will be borne equally by each 
party to this Agreement.  The laws of the State of Georgia will govern the validity of these terms, their interpretation 
and performance.  Client and Engineer agree that venue for any litigation will be in the courts of the State of Georgia 
and Engineer and Client both hereby waive any right to initiate any action in or remove any action to, any other 
jurisdiction. 
 

22. Severability. This agreement reflects the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its terms and supersedes all prior 
agreements, whether written or oral.  If any portion of this Agreement is void or voidable, such portion will be deemed 
stricken and the Agreement reformed to as closely approximate the stricken portions as the law allows. 
 


	1. Call To Order
	2. Invocation
	3. Pledge Of Allegiance To The Flag
	4. Proclamation Presentation to Ms. Debra Tann - Reminiscent (Regular Session)
	5. Minutes For Approval
	a. Work Session - May 23, 2022, Budget Work Session -

	6. Appointment
	a. Southwest Georgia Region 8 Emergency Medical Services Council
	Southwest Georgia Region 8 Emergency  Medical Serv
	Region 8 Advisory Council Lowndes County Nomination Letter


	7. Public Hearing
	a. REZ-2022-09 Flannigan, James Rd. R-1 to C-G, Water/Sewer ~7.8 acres
	Agenda Item Report
	Request to Table
	Flannigan Letter of Intent
	Letter of Intent (11)
	Survey (16)
	REZ-2022-09Z
	REZ-2022-09F
	REZ-2022-09W
	Petition Against REZ-2022-09

	b. REZ-2022-10 The Campus Transitional Care Facility, 2193 Howell Rd, E-A to P-D, Well & Septic ~23 acres
	Agenda Item Report
	Letter of Intent (12)
	Conceptual Plan (1)
	Survey (17)
	REZ-2022-10Z
	REZ-2022-10F
	REZ-2022-10W
	10 letters
	6 pages of signed petition
	21 pages of signed petition 
	3 pages of signed petition 
	Rezoning letter

	c. REZ-2022-11 Makesh, LLC, 900 Lakes Blvd, C-G, County Utilities, 1.07 acres
	Agenda Item Report
	REZ-2014-14 Notice of Decision
	Letter of Intent (13)
	Dairy Queen Lakes Boulevard Landscape Plan for Rezoning Application 0506...
	REZ-2022-11Z
	REZ-2022-11F
	REZ-2022-11W

	d. REZ-2022-12 Pittman, Phelps, Leonard, Moss Oak Trail, R-10 to C-G, County Utilities, ~1.63 acres
	Agenda Item Report
	Letter of Intent (14)
	REZ-2022-12Z
	REZ-2022-12F
	REZ-2022-12W


	8. For Consideration
	a. Lowndes County Accountability Court Grant Approval and Cash Match
	Agenda Item Report
	LCAC BOC MEETING HANDOUT
	SubGrant Award-Lowndes Cty-J23-8-033
	FY23 Grant Special Conditions
	Designation of Signing Authority

	b. Lowndes County Juvenile Accountability Court (LCJAC) FY23 Budget & Grant Award
	Agenda Item Report
	FY23 Budget Detail Worksheet - Juvenile Accountability Court
	Subgrant Award and Special Conditions
	Designation of Signing Authority

	c. Annual Contract Renewal with the State of Georgia Department of Corrections
	Agenda Item Report
	LOWNDES CO BD OF COMM WORK DETAIL AGREEMENT FY23

	d. American Rescue Plan Funding for Utilities Repairs with Carter & Sloope Engineering
	Agenda Item Report
	Lowndes County - Pump Station Improvements
	Lowndes County - Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvements (Phase 1 & 2)
	Lowndes County - Water Line Improvements


	9. Reports - County Manager
	10. Citizens Wishing To Be Heard - Please State Your Name and Address
	11. Adjournment



